PARENTAL ATTITUDE TOWARD THE SCHOOL, STUDENT CONFIDENCE LEVEL OF ACADEMIC ABILITY, SELECTED INDICES OF STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT: A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF RELATIONSHIPS

> Thesis for the Degree of Ph. D. MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY JOHN WALTER MEHL 1972



This is to certify that the

thesis entitled Parental Attitude Toward The School, Student Confidence Level Of Academic Ability, Selected Indices Of Student Achievement: A Comparative Study of Relationships

93 10185 75

presented by

John Walter Mehl

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Administration and

Higher Education

Samuel A. Moore, II

Date 2/18/73

0-7639



12 tov 1-8-1974 318 \$ 1975 Rpd15 12-5-25 De 1080 AM-84 3270120 6 176 m Q 3 FEB 25-1977 (230) Ec P-310 77-RYJ July14 Curry Redon



ABSTRACT

PARENTAL ATTITUDE TOWARD THE SCHOOL, STUDENT CONFIDENCE LEVEL OF ACADEMIC ABILITY, SELECTED INDICES OF STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT: A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF RELATIONSHIPS

By

John Walter Mehl

Purpose of the Study

This study was undertaken in order to determine the relationship between parental attitude toward the school (as modified by income level, race, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, and parental perceptions of power or powerlessness), student confidence level of academic ability, and selected indices of student achievement including standardized test scores, rate of absenteeism, frequency of disciplinary action taken by the child's teacher, and academic standing in relation to chronological age norms. The following questions were posed:

1. How do the parents feel about the school, its curriculum, student management, services, school-parent communications, facilities and administration?

2. What is the prevailing level of confidence of academic ability of the students in the school?

3. Is there muude toward derademic abil 4. Is there grarents on th # Educational milictor varia fility, the ye mi of the motil d power to pr mine and at ints in relat 5. Is the f students or subset of the zacademic a te household perceptions of student disc tion to chro to the Bullo tional Admir itocedures

> In ord ^{struments} w

3. Is there a significant correlation between parental attitude toward the school and student level of confidence of academic ability?

4. Is there a significant correlation between the scores of parents on the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators and all or any subset of the predictor variables of student confidence level of academic ability, the years of schooling of the heads of the households and of the mothers, race, income level, parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school, student discipline and absence rate, and the academic standing of students in relation to chronological age norms?

5. Is there a significant correlation between the scores of students on the Stanford Achievement Test and all, or any subset of the predictor variables of student confidence level of academic ability, the years of schooling of the heads of the households and of the mothers, race, income level, parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school, student discipline and absence rate, academic standing in relation to chronological age norms, or the responses of parents to the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators.

Procedures

In order to answer the questions of this study, two instruments were used. The Bullock School-Community Attitude

alisis for Ed

etermine the a

missis reveal

mitude. Anal

Maiprocal Ave:

::est (r) at .

Enlity form wa

lmerature of E

and to stude:

mermining the

ints used in

He estimated

Various d

personal data

tesponding par

Binered by me

With each of t

The popul

and the

school. Grade

non. Kinders

art of the st

22, or 74 pe

responding un

^{iata bank} to

stiginal popul

Analysis for Educational Administrators (SCAAEA) was used to determine the attitudes of parents toward the school. Factor analysis revealed seven separate factors of such parental attitude. Analysis of the Bullock SCAAEA by mean of the Hoyt Reciprocal Averages Program revealed a reliability coefficient (r) at .74. The Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability form was developed by the author after study of the literature of Brookover and others. This test was administered to students in an interview setting with the aim of determining the confidence level of academic ability of students used in this study. Reliability (r) of this instrument was estimated at .70.

Various demographic data were ascertained by means of a personal data form sent, with the Bullock SCAAEA, to all responding parents. All student achievement indices were gathered by means of school records and through consultation with each of the teaching teams in the school.

The population for this study was composed of the oldest child and the parents of each family in a single elementary school. Grades one through six were included in this population. Kindergarten and special education students were not a part of the study. Of the 273 responding units contacted, 202, or 74 per cent returned their materials. Deletion of 48 responding units due to incomplete data, reduced the usable data bank to 154 responding units, or 58 per cent of the original population.

Data generi sathing team : gsei using ch. minst Moment f regression byr Findings 1. Parent level of acade werlessness 2. The at unt others, w Ehlevement i: Esence rate, Toblems. 3. The a cant others, isvel of acad 4. Stude ^{leĉiate} age s achievement 1 perceptions o CITS, 5. Pare: Simificantl: school,

Data generated from the two instruments, student records, teaching team responses, and personal data forms were analysed using chi square contingency table analysis, Pearson Product Moment Correlation and the least square delete form of regression analysis.

Major Findings

1. Parental attitude toward the school, student confidence level of academic ability and parental perceptions of power and powerlessness were measurable constructs for this population.

2. The attitudes toward the school of parents, as significant others, were significantly related to indices of student achievement including math and reading percentile scores, absence rate, and frequence and kind of student discipline problems.

3. The attitudes toward the school of parents, as significant others, were significantly related to student confidence level of academic ability.

4. Student confidence level of academic ability of intermediate age students was significantly related to indices of achievement including math percentile scores and the teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms.

5. Parental perceptions of power and powerlessness were significantly related to the attitudes of parents toward the school.

6. The att arreptions of inte level of wight of posit 7. Differ∈ were significar pars of school smaling of the <u>mincations</u> f 1. Analys mard the sch med change mademic abili more in the thenomenon wou 2, Parent school's Opera sugent achiev ittitudes towa tive anong pa Supensatory issigned to o the program. tature of suc " ^{suggested}

6. The attitudes of parents toward the school, parental perceptions of power and powerlessness, and student confidence level of academic ability tended to diminish in relative weight of positivism as student tenure in the school increased.

7. Differences in parental attitude toward the school were significantly related to the demographic variables of years of schooling of the head of the household, years of schooling of the mother, income and race.

Implications for Further Study

1. Analysis of the data revealed that parental attitude toward the school, parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school, and student confidence level of academic ability diminished in relative positivism as student tenure in the school increased. Empirical examination of this phenomenon would seem to be a logical follow-up to this study.

2. Parental attitude toward certain segments of the school's operating procedures was negatively associated with student achievement indices. It was suggested that where attitudes toward such aspects of the school program were negative among parents of high achieving students, some form of compensatory steps were being taken by parents which were designed to override the effects of perceived weaknesses in the program. Research directed toward the isolation of the nature of such compensation would seem of value. Moreover, it is suggested that the effects upon student achievement of a

6. The Archington of parents toward the school, parental as optican of more and powerlessness, and student confiests a need to exchange analyzy tended to diminish in priative equate of particleum and student tender in the school increased of contractions in charter altitude toward the school active questione in charter altitude toward the school matter at the school increased at the school increased of the increased result at the within a the demographic variables of at non-non of the school of result at the within a the school of the school of result at the within a the school of results at the within a school of the s

mogram designe parents be stud 3. Extende stal perceptio school, and par rested. Such a eperimental se tuies toward th designed to end meded changes 4. The dat dicational le :parental at Mationship H stitude towar atainment, s ite designed parents while attitudes to: dildren are 5. The ione-school Rient advis ³³ describe waware of

Cils on par Wuld seem

program designed to alter such negative attitudes among parents be studied.

3. Extended research into the relationship between parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school, and parental attitudes toward the school, is suggested. Such a study might best be undertaken in a controlled experimental setting where the effects upon parental attitudes toward the school and student achievement of a program designed to enhance parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes could be studied.

4. The data revealed a negative relationship between educational level of attainment of parents and certain factors of parental attitude toward the school. The apparent positive relationship between student achievement and both parental attitude toward the school and parental level of educational attainment, suggests the need for research into programs which are designed to provide continued education experience for parents while, at the same time, maintaining positive parental attitudes toward the school or school system of which their children are a part.

5. The data were supportive of the need for effective home-school communication and inferred the value of active parent advisory councils. While research has been undertaken to describe the functions of such a council, this writer is unaware of any study which treats the effect of advisory councils on parental attitude toward the school. Such research would seem worthwhile.

P/ STUDE(SEL) A

in F

PARENTAL ATTITUDE TOWARD THE SCHOOL, STUDENT CONFIDENCE LEVEL OF ACADEMIC ABILITY, SELECTED INDICES OF STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT: A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF RELATIONSHIPS

1

Ву

John Walter Mehl

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Administration and Higher Education

.

1972

5. 35 J

The complefibrts of many featfically, 1.8. Mott Fouup Improvemenpiduate study

I am, and sup, encourag In Samuel A.

5

Special t for the many h and regard to a this study.

In addit: X. Clyde M. Exerest and period in whith

Words an mon I feel wie Marcia, it is to you we dedicate

.

G 81345

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this study is representative of the efforts of many people to whom I wish to extend my gratitude. Specifically, I wish to express my deep appreciation to the C. S. Mott Foundation, and to the Mott Institute for Community Improvement for providing the opportunity to pursue graduate study in a most cordial and productive atmosphere.

I am, and shall remain, most appreciative of the friendship, encouragement and scholarly guidance provided by Dr. Samuel A. Moore, II, who served as Director of this study.

Special thanks is extended to Dr. Lawrence W. Lezotte for the many hours spent and the invaluable guidance given me with regard to the design of and statistical procedures used in this study.

In addition, I wish to thank Dr. Daniel H. Kruger and Dr. Clyde M. Campbell for serving on my committee. Their interest and encouragement was of prime importance during the period in which this study was conducted.

Words are insufficient to express the depth of appreciation I feel for the love, patience and encouragement of my wife Marcia, and my two daughters, Michelle and Heather. It is to you, my beloved family, that this study and degree are dedicated.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- -

. .

CHAPTE	R	Page
	LIST OF TABLES	vì
	LIST OF CHARTS	viii
I.	THE PROBLEM	1
	Statement of the Problem	1
	Research Hypothesis	2
	Need for the Study	2
	Significance of the Study	5
	Definition of Terms	9
II.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
III.	DESIGN OF THE STUDY	38
	Location of the Study	38
	Demographic Data.	40
	Staffing Pattern of the School	40
	Selection of the Sample	40
	Procedures Used in Data Gathering	41
	Instrumentation and Data Treatment	44
	Analysis of the Data.	49
	The Level of Significance	50
	Summary	51
IV.	ANALYSIS OF THE DATA	52
	Tests of the Hypotheses	52
	Discussion of Data Analysis for Hypothe-	•-
		55
	Supplementary Data	60
	Parental Attitude Toward the School	60
	Student Confidence Level of Academic	
	Ability.	64
	-	

THE OF CONTE		
397ER		
Corr		
2 2 2		
Surr		
V. SUMMARN		
Pur		
Rev: Sel:		
Sel		
Ser Sig		
Cor		
Des		
flr		
Str		
Re		
_		
Re		
R		

TABLE OF CONTENTS--Continued

CHAPTER

	Correlational Relationship Between Paren- tal Attitude Toward the School and Student Level of Confidence of Academ-	
	ic Ability	65
	Summary	66
v.	SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	69
	Purpose of the Study	69
	Review of the Literature	70
	Self-Concept as a Psychological Construct.	70
	Self-Concept and Achievement	71
	Self-Concept of Academic Ability	71
	Significant Others and Self-Concept of	
	Academic Ability	72
	Conclusion	73
	Design of the Study	74
	Findings of the Study	76
	Parental Attitude Toward the School	76
	Student Confidence Level of Academic	
	Ability	77
	Relationship Between Parental Attitude	•••
	Toward the School and Student Confi-	
	dence Level of Academic Ability	77
	Polationships of Darontal Attitude Toward	
	the School Democraphic Variables and	
	the School, Demographic variables and	
	the Several Indices of Student Achieve-	70
		78
	Relationships Among Reading and Math Per-	
	centile Scores, Other Indices of	
	Achievement, and the Attitudes of Par-	
	ents Toward the School	82
	Additional Relationships of Importance to	
	this Study	84
	Conclusions	85
	Implications	86
	The Relationship Between Parental Attitude	
	Toward the School as a Construct, Modi-	
	fied by Demographic Data and Parental	
	Perceptions of Power or Powerlessness.	
	Student Confidence Level of Academic	
	Ability and Indices of Student Achieve-	
	mont	27
		0/

. .

BEE OF CONTEN EXTER Pare 1 L C Buil Buil Scho C Soci Acad Scho Stud Year Year Incc Race Leve Pare Sumr Impj HELIOGRAPHY DENDICES A. CORREL B. DEMOGR C. PERSC: DENCE SCHOOL TIONAL

TABLE OF CONTENTS--Continued

CHAPTER

Page

29

- -

<pre>its Relationship to Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability and Indices of Student Achievement</pre>		Parental Attitudes Toward the School and	
Level of Academic Ability and Indices of Student Achievement		its Relationship to Student Confidence	
of Student Achievement		Level of Academic Ability and Indices	
Building Maintenance 89 Building Adequacy. 90 School Community Relations and Communi- cations 91 Social Skills Training 92 Academic Training. 92 Academic Training. 94 School Board-Community Relations and Communications. 95 Student Management 95 Student Management 96 Years of Schooling of the Head of the Household 98 Years of Schooling of the Mother 100 Income 102 Race 103 Level Variability of Parental Attitude Toward the School 103 Parental Perceptions of Power or Power- lessness. 104 Summary of the Implications. 105 Implications for Further Study 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY 112 APPENDICES 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- TIONIC DENCEMINANCENTERING		of Student Achievement	89
Building Adequacy. 90 School Community Relations and Communi- 91 Social Skills Training 92 Academic Training. 94 School Board-Community Relations and 94 School Board-Community Relations and 95 Student Management 95 Student Management 96 Years of Schooling of the Head of the 98 Household 98 Years of Schooling of the Mother 100 Income 102 Race 103 Level Variability of Parental Attitude 103 Parental Perceptions of Power or Power- 104 Summary of the Implications 105 Implications for Further Study 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY 112 APPENDICES 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-		Building Maintenance	89
School Community Relations and Communi- cations		Building Adequacy	90
cations 91 Social Skills Training 92 Academic Training 94 School Board-Community Relations and 94 Communications 95 Student Management 95 Student Management 96 Years of Schooling of the Head of the 98 Years of Schooling of the Mother 100 Income 102 Race 103 Level Variability of Parental Attitude 103 Devel Variability of Power or Power 103 lessness 104 Summary of the Implications 105 Implications for Further Study 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY 112 APPENDICES 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-		School Community Relations and Communi-	
Social Skills Training		cations	91
Academic Training		Social Skills Training	92
School Board-Community Relations and Communications		Academic Training	94
Communications		School Board-Community Relations and	
Student Management		Communications	95
Years of Schooling of the Head of the Household		Student Management	96
 Household		Years of Schooling of the Head of the	
Years of Schooling of the Mother 100 Income		Household	98
Income		Years of Schooling of the Mother	100
Race 103 Level Variability of Parental Attitude 103 Toward the School 103 Parental Perceptions of Power or Power- 104 Iessness 104 Summary of the Implications 105 Implications for Further Study 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY 112 APPENDICES 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- DUNL DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-			102
Level Variability of Parental Attitude Toward the School		Race	103
Toward the School		Level Variability of Parental Attitude	
Parental Perceptions of Power or Power- lessness		Toward the School	103
 lessness		Parental Perceptions of Power or Power-	
Summary of the Implications		lessness	104
Implications for Further Study 108 BIBLIOGRAPHY		Summary of the Implications	105
 BIBLIOGRAPHY		Implications for Further Study	108
 BIBLIOGRAPHY			
APPENDICES A. CORRELATIONAL TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-	BIBLIO	GRAPHY	112
 APPENDICES A. CORRELATIONAL TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- 			
 A. CORRELATIONAL TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- 	APPENDI	ICES	
 A. CORRELATIONAL TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS 117 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- 			
 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- DENCE OF ADDITION OF CONFILING ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- 	A.	CORRELATIONAL TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS.	117
 B. DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES . 140 C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA- DIONNAL ADMINISTRATION CONFILMENTS 			
C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-	Β.	DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES .	140
C. PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI- DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-			1.0
DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-	с.	PERSONAL DATA FORM, STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFI-	
SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-		DENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM, AND BULLOCK	
		SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCA-	
TIONAL ADMINISTRATORS		TIONAL ADMINISTRATORS	149

:331E

- 3.1 Racial Used in
- 3.2 Years c
- 1.3 Race .
- 1.4 Years of
 - hold . .
- 3.5 Income .
- 3.6 Rotated (Seven F
- 3.7 Bullock Educatic
- 4.1 Building
- 4.2 Building
- 4.3 School-C
- 4.4 Social s
- 15 Academi
- LE School cations
- 1.7 Student
- 4.8 Readin
- 4.9 Math P
- 4.10 Group School

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE

Page

and the second second

3.1	Racial Breakdown of Student Body of the School Used in This Study	39
3.2	Years of School of the Mother	141
3.3	Race	141
3.4	Years of Schooling of the Head of the House- hold	142
3.5	Income	142
3.6	Rotated Factor Loadings for Each Bullock Item (Seven Factor Solution)	143
3.7	Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators (Factor Analysis) .	145
4.1	Building Maintenance	118
4.2	Building Adequacy	118
4.3	School-Community Relations and Communications.	119
4.4	Social Skills Training	120
4,5	Academic Skills Training	121
4.6	School Board-Community Relations and Communi- cations	122
4.7	Student Management	123
4.8	Reading Percentile Scores	124
4.9	Math Percentile Scores	125
4.10	Group Means and Standard Deviations on Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis	126

TT OF THELES

3315

111 Relativ

4.12 Mean Sc

4.13 Years of

4.14 Years of hold .

4.15 Income

LIST OF TABLES--Continued

TABLE	Page
4.11 Relative Importance of Bullock SCAAEA	128
4.12 Mean Scores of Students on SCLAA Form	64
4.13 Years of Schooling of the Mother	129
4.14 Years of Schooling of the Head of the House- hold	130
4.15 Income	131



4-E Means fo

4-F Means fc

4-G Means fc

4-H Means fo VIII) .

LIST OF CHARTS

- - - ____

CHART		Page
4-A	Means for Total Bullock SCAAEA	132
4-B	Means for School-Community Relations and Com- munications (Factor I)	133
4-C	Means for Building Adequacy (Factor II)	134
4-D	Means for School Board-Community Communications and Relations (Factor III)	135
4-E	Means for Student Management (Factor IV)	136
4-F	Means for School Maintenance (Factor V)	137
4 - G	Means for Social Skills Training (Factor VI)	138
4-H	Means for Academic Skills Training (Factor VIII)	139

Statement of This st atitude towa of school of income, and P is related to my and select tc problems 1. How a stude: catio: 2. What acade 3. Is th attit confi 4. In wi of s the Powe tude denc 5. How (sco of d and acad acad

CHAPTER I

THE PROBLEM

Statement of the Problem

This study was undertaken to determine how parental attitude toward the school (as modified by race, the years of school of the head of the household and of the mother, income, and perceived power or powerlessness of the parents) is related to student level of confidence of academic ability and selected indices of student achievement. The specific problems are as follows:

- 1. How do parents feel about the school; its curriculum, student management, services, school-parent communication, facilities and administration?
- 2. What is the prevailing level of confidence of academic ability of the students in the school?
- 3. Is there a significant correlation between parental attitude toward the school and student level of confidence of academic ability?
- 4. In what way do the variables of race, income, years of schooling of the head of the household, and of the mother, and parental perceptions of power or powerlessness function as modifiers of parental attitudes toward the school and student level of confidence of academic ability?
- 5. How are selected indices of student achievement (scores on standardized tests, absenteeism, frequency of disciplinary action taken by the child's teacher, and academic standing in relation to chronological age norms) related to student level of confidence of acàdemic ability and parental attitude toward the school?

Hesearch Hypo Parental mme level, Ersehold, zi educati mficantly :f academ1c ment includ: mency of di zd academic Med for the American anation dete is people su xlitical or o From th ^{cation} Democra ate. 7 without absorb the glo Econom enough To sch



these equali

Research Hypothesis

Parental attitude toward the school, as modified by income level, race, years of schooling of the head of the household, perceived power or powerlessness of the parents, and educational level of attainment of the mother, is significantly ($p \leq .10$) related to student level of confidence of academic ability and selected indices of student achievement including standardized test scores, absenteeism, frequency of disciplinary action taken by the child's teacher, and academic standing in relation to chronological age norms.

Need for the Study

American education was born of concern; the concern of a nation determined to build a great democracy and to educate its people sufficiently for the task of maintaining a new political order. Commager writes:

From the very beginning of our national existence, education has had very special tasks to perform in America. Democracy could not work without an enlightened electorate. The states and sections could not achieve unity without a sentiment of nationalism. The nation could not absorb tens of millions of immigrants from all parts of the globe without rapid and effective Americanization. Economic and social distinctions and privileges, severe enough to corrode democracy itself, had to be overcome. To schools went the momentous responsibility of doing these tasks of inculcating democracy, nationalism and equalitarianism.¹

2

¹Henry Commager, cited in Peter Schrag, <u>Voices in the</u> <u>Classroom: Public Schools and Public Attitudes</u> (Boston, Mass.: Beacon Press, 1965), p. 2.



The educational demands of a fledgling nation were not Nor has time and technology reduced these easily met. demands. Today, as before, effective education requires a sensitive system which operates in concert with the needs and wishes of the national public generally and the community in particular. The effectiveness of the school is increased to the extent to which its immediate public stands in support of its policies, teaching and administrative staff, and its operating procedures.² Thus, it would seem that the welfare of the nation and the success of the schools educating its populace are interdependent. Concomitant with this interdependence however, is the dichotomy of concern between the public and its schools. On the one hand, the public is calling for higher levels of achievement and greater accountability from the schools as evidenced by performance contracting and state-wide achievement testing programs. And, on the other hand, the schools are deploring the apparent apathy and lack of concerned participation on the part of the public.

In a very real sense, the nation is dependent upon the effective functioning of its schools. Nor could one suggest that the schools are not likewise dependent upon the public. As Cass suggests,

The public schools are more directly dependent than most democratic institutions upon the continuing support

3


of the American People. Yet, the way the public views its schools has rarely been the subject of more than limited and sporadic inquiry.³

For education, the matter of greatest importance is the school's interrelatedness with the public. For the school administrator, as he views the school and its relationship to the parents of the children it serves, Jameson, in his discussion of the factors which lead to student success in the elementary school, suggests that:

The attitudes which parents hold and display toward the school, the principal, the teacher, the school program and toward education itself, will in turn influence the attitudes of their children. How parents view education and the regard they have for it may well determine the attitude a child will hold and the success he will enjoy in his educational endeavors.⁴

Research has been undertaken which suggests that the attitude of significant others in general, and parents in particular, is a strong determining factor of student confidence levels of academic ability and, further, that student confidence levels have a direct relationship to actual achievement. Brookover found that students indicated parents and other relatives as significant others more frequently than any others with whom they were associated when asked to specify who was most interested in their successes and failures in

³James Cass, "The Public School's Public," <u>Saturday</u> <u>Review</u>, LII (Oct. 18, 1967), 73.

⁴Marshall C. Jameson, <u>Helping Your Child Succeed in</u> <u>Elementary School</u> (Toronto: Longmans Canada Limited, 1962), p. 53.

school. Sir

In a ver success child 1 just as child 3 values

If edu

achieve effe

ptential, t

fiparents of

Simificance

In a pub

tom their sc

ther things,

around instru

Haced in the

A findin

Significant to

to responded

tis, causing



^{fpatrica}

school.⁵ Similarly, Sexton has indicated that:

In a very real sense parents are responsible for the success or failure of their children in school. The child is a product of his family and class background just as his parents are of theirs. Very often the child is simply a reflection of parental attitudes, values, skills and levels of understanding.⁶

If educators are to be successful in their efforts to achieve effective education through the maximizing of student potential, they must give serious concern to the attitudes of parents of the children they serve.

Significance of the Study

In a public survey aimed at learning what parents want from their schools, Gallup and his associates found, among other things, that the highest response percentages centered around instructional concerns, with particular emphasis being placed in the concern for more time spent on basic education.

A finding of the survey which was considered highly significant to the writers was the large percentage of parents who responded with "no answer" to items of major importance, thus, causing the writers to conclude that "the large

⁵W. B. Brookover, E. L. Erickson, and L. N. Joiner, <u>Self-Concept of Ability and School Achievement III: Relation-</u> <u>ship of Self-Concept to Achievement in High School</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 2831 (East Lansing: Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, Feb., 1967).

⁶Patrica Cayo Sexton, <u>Education and Income</u> (New York: Viking Press, Inc., 1964), p. 106.

ercentage of many school s me attitude. past, often recognized a programs and mesearch and 255, 1967; 5 Seisoe, 1962 ward the sci ion than was Indeed, : motivati parents, friends, The fami: stive through tetavior. 9 Mo Mischal attit tion with his

⁷"Paren: 2007, 1966),

^{Clyde}

E. J. ¹^J·C. J Luge (Univ

percentage of 'no answer' might indicate a need for [sic] many school systems for a parent information campaign."⁷ The attitudes of parents toward their schools have, in the past, often been viewed as merely something which had to be recognized and carefully managed if financial support for programs and staffing were to be maintained. Today, however, research and literature (e.g., Schrag, 1965; Hand, 1948; Cass, 1967; Sexton, 1964; Jameson, 1962; Bullock, 1959; and Bledsoe, 1962) seem to suggest that the attitudes of parents toward the school hold far greater significance for education than was previously believed.

Indeed, what young people become is determined by many motivations, many inspirations, many suggestions from parents, from siblings, from relatives and from close friends, to mention a few.⁸

The family's influence on the child is one that remains active throughout his life, shaping both personality and behavior.⁹ Moreover, the child's self-evaluation and interpersonal attitudes are a direct outgrowth of his long association with his parents.¹⁰

⁷"Parents Are Ready" (editorial), <u>The Instructor</u>, LII (Oct., 1966), 149.

⁸Clyde M. Campbell, <u>Community Education and Its Adminis-</u> <u>tration</u>, X (Nov., 1971), Number 3.

⁹E. J. Shoben, Jr., "Toward a Concept of the Normal Personality," <u>American Psychologist</u>, XII (1957), 183.

¹⁰J. C. Bledsoe, and K. C. Garrison, <u>The Self-Concepts</u> of <u>Elementary School Children</u>, Cooperative Research Project No. 1008 (University of Georgia, 1962).

4 In stud rats, it was meter signi the animals. meir subjec : maze perfo w run to the mailers beli Studies ad Erickson iman and hum whief that t 'significant (lesults of the tion of the st matern have a liteled "disad If the a toplay an im ten the ques tin what w mients? Ir the part st evenent f 18. Ros 183, 183-9 In studies conducted by Rosenthal and others, using rats, it was found that the expectations held by the experimenter significantly determined the performance outcomes of the animals. The rats of those trainers who were told that their subjects were superior in their abilities to operate in a maze performed significantly better ($p \le .01$) in learning to run to the dark section of the maze than did those whose handlers believed their subject to be dull.¹¹

Studies by Craig (1965), Morse (1963), Joiner (1966), and Erickson (1965) have been conducted using both infrahuman and human subjects in order to more fully validate the belief that the attitudes and expectations of the subjects' "significant others" are a determining factor in performance. Results of these studies have placed a new focus on the question of the success of students in school. Of particular concern have been those students who have been variously labeled "disadvantaged" and "underprivileged."

If the attitudes and expectations of significant others do play an important part in the achievement of students, then the questions arise: who are these significant others; and in what way do their attitudes and expectations affect students? In answer to the first question, Brookover in a three part study of <u>Self-Concept of Ability and Student</u> Achievement found that among the students they tested;

¹¹R. Rosenthal and K. L. Fode, <u>Behavioral Science</u>, VIII (1963), 183-9.

Parents Import well the relative to each usually

How do

dilåren? B

smificant

with their se

evaluations w

macept when

pears).13 Th

macept and t

prticularly

" student ac

tose student

many toward h

this when he

bubt, that h

thing academ

S be limited

¹²W.B. <u>incol Achie</u> itsearch Pro id Publicat ¹³W.B.

Midemic Ach

: ⁵W. В.

Parents were named by nearly all students as both "important in their lives" and "concerned about how well they do in school." School personnel, other relatives, and peers were named by many in response to each question but by smaller proportions and usually after parents were named.¹²

How do the attitudes of these significant others affect children? Brookover et al., found that the evaluations of significant others as perceived by children were associated with their self-concepts and that a change in these perceived evaluations was accompanied by a similar change in selfconcept when viewed over longer periods of time (three years).¹³ The importance of this relationship between selfconcept and the evaluations and attitudes of others becomes particularly significant when viewed in relation to its effect on student achievement. Caplin's (1966) study revealed that those students professing positive self-concepts had a tendency toward higher achievement in school.¹⁴Brookover supports this when he suggests that there is some question, indeed doubt, that human ability is the most potent factor in determining academic success. Rather, achievement in school tends to be limited by the student's attitudes about himself.¹⁵

¹²W. B. Brookover et al., <u>Self-Concept of Ability and</u> <u>School Achievement II</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 1636 (East Lansing: Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, 1965), p. 75.

¹³W. B. Brookover et al., II, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 201.

¹⁴M. D. Caplin, "The Relationships Between Self-Concept and Academic Achievement and Between Level of Aspiration and Academic Achievement." Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation,

¹⁵W. B. Brookover et al., III, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 3.

ť Thus, and their ef and ultimate tion of edu meral and mincant de school. Minition o The fol tant for thi And neg school-adeguad cations skills ascert ascert the Bu Cation only a necess <u>sthool-Corr</u> teach probl as part Adec Ethool Bo Scho Cato the

Thus, the attitudes of parents as significant others and their effect upon the determination of the self-concept and ultimately, achievement, deserve the fullest consideration of educators. How parents feel about education in general and the school in particular may determine to a significant degree the success their child's experiences in the school.

Definition of Terms

The following terms, and their definitions, are important for this study:

- Parental Attitude Toward the School includes both positive and negative reactions of the parents with regard to school-community relations and communications, plant adequacy, school-board-community relations and communications, school maintenance, academic training, social skills training, and student management, and will be ascertained as a score on the "Your Schools" section of the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators. ⁶ Such attitudes are intended only as subjective positions or feelings and do not necessarily imply predisposition to act.
- <u>School-Community Communications and Relations includes parent-</u> teacher and parent-administrator communication regarding problems of the school as perceived by the parents.
- <u>Plant Adequacy</u> includes items relating to building adequacy as perceived by the parents, including space, its utilization and general building condition.
- School Board-Community Relations and Communications includes school board-community and school board-parent communication regarding problems of the school as perceived by the parents.

9

¹⁶Robert P. Bullock, <u>School-Community Attitude Analysis</u> <u>for Educational Administrators</u> (Columbus, Ohio: College of Education, Ohio State University, 1959).

۲,
l l
<u>````</u>
inhool Maint
iebari
parent
kesdemic T
dires i
perce
needs
gener habit
<u>Stial Ski</u>
reçar
stude:
Student Mar
percer
struct
• b een - •
the Leve
tute pr
that i
With t
tions,
Well a
a good
(6) ur
is Cat
its of s
Princ
be di
grade
SCUCC
. St De
Lent Le
taire
ses t
Lonf .
andara.
ànd /
teach
: 7 5 -
Sex.

. ۲

Per Re

- <u>School Maintenance</u> includes items regarding the present repair status of the plant as it is perceived by the parents.
- Academic Training is considered to be those official and quasi-official offerings in the school program which are perceived by the parents to be intended to serve the needs of the children for the mastery of basic skills, general curriculum, personal help and guidance, work habits, and individual attention.
- Social Skills Training refers to the responses of parents regarding their perceptions of the training given the students in social skills and human relations.
- <u>Student Management</u> includes items dealing with the parents' perceptions of student discipline, and respect for the structure of authority maintained by the school.
- Income Level is defined as that amount of money earned by the principal bread-winner in the home and will constitute a measure of socio-economic status. Sexton found that income correlates significantly at the .94 level with the socio-economic classifications of "house conditions, public assistance, behavior, initial data, as well as occupation and education" and "... is therefore a good index to social class."¹⁷ Levels to be used will be (1) \$15,000 and over, (2) 10,000 to 14,999, (3) 7,000 to 9,999, (4) 5,000 to 6,999, (5) 3,000 to 4,999, (6) under 3,000.
- Race is categorized as White and Non-white.
- Years of Schooling of the Head of the Household refers to the principal bread-winning parent of the family and shall be divided into the categories of (1) less than 12th grade, (2) high school, (3) some college (e.g., trade school, community college, etc.), (4) college graduate or beyond.
- Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability was ascertained in an interview setting at which time the responses to questions included in the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability form were recorded.
- <u>Standardized Test Scores</u> includes measures of general ability and/or specific achievement as ascertained either by a teacher or school psychologist on the Stanford

¹⁷Sexton, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 13.

)`` ſ Achieve conside scores or and <u>Esenteels</u> for re a long confir tion. Energy of child's quency monthly rule, d to the Mademic Sta was det her exp. test sc gories (3) son etc.), mined by not a pa been add fusion. of the p cause me Achievement Test. Tests of emotional set were not considered as a part of the record of standardized test scores for this study whether or not they indicate I.Q. or any other measure of achievement.

- Absenteeism includes those times of absence from the school for reasons of illness or other except in the case of a long term illness of one week duration or longer as confirmed by either parental or professional notification.
- Frequency of Disciplinary Action was determined by the child's teacher(s) and was differentiated both by frequency and kind. Frequency is daily, weekly, bimonthly, monthly. Kind is no infraction, infration of a minor rule, disruptive or disrespectful of others, a threat to the safety of self or others, malicious.
- Academic Standing in Relation to Chronological Age Norms was determined by the teacher on the basis of his or her experience at that age level and by standardized test scores yielding an age factor of achievement.
- Years of Schooling of the Mother is divided into the categories of (1) less than 12th grade, (2) high school, (3) some college (e.g., trade school, community college, etc.), (4) college graduate or beyond.
- <u>Perceived Power or Powerlessness of the Parents</u> was determined by items 41 and 42 of the questionnaire which are not a part of the Bullock Attitude scale but which have been added so as to avoid unnecessary respondent confusion. Perceived power or powerlessness is a measure of the parents' perceived ability to be heard and to cause meaningful change within the school structure.



CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Man's early views of self were, in large part, statements of the personal experiences of the theorists who were formulating them. A clear example of this may be found in the arguments of Rene Descartes (1644) when he confirmed his own existence as a result of the personal experience of thinking: "Cogito ergo sum."

The earliest Greek thinkers, while not using the term "self" were nonetheless aware of and desirous of more fully knowing that entity which they called variously "soul," "psyche," and "spirit."¹ It was not until the beginning of the present century that the thinking about self began to move away from the introspective approach toward a more definitive concept. With the writings of C. S. Pierce and others, the question became one of the existence of "the self," as an entity which could be studied empirically and as distinguished from the previously more personal concept of self.

¹James C. Diggory, <u>Self Evaluation: Concepts and Studies</u> (New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1966).

The wrl strong mover if explainin by of libidi driving force is it had proving Kundt, was ge

masis upon a

ievelopment d

matate for p

iffined and d

mation to t

Jung's c

ath those of

that behavior

unguished b

Tat easily

Teenscious

weriences.

The flr

t system bu

intalist an their own

any was be

cares

The writings of Sigmund Freud were responsible for the strong movement toward somatically based drives as a means of explaining behavior motivation. Thus, he spoke extensively of libidinal and aggressive energies as supplying the driving force or motivation for human action. The term "ego," as it had previously been used by James, Hoffding, Mach and Wundt, was given a position of great importance. In his emphasis upon instinct as a stimulus to behavior, and in his development of a system of need gratification and societal mandate for postponement of such gratification, Freud further defined and developed the concept of ego in terms of its relation to the "id" and "super ego."

Jung's concepts of ego and self coincided in many ways with those of Freud particularly in relation to his belief that behavior is a function of unconscious forces. He distinguished between the collective unconscious, which can be most easily explained as species learning, and the personal unconscious which is a kind of recording of all past, personal experiences.²

The first quarter of the twentieth century was a period of system building in which the Gestalt, Structuralist, Functionalist and Behaviorist psychologists adhered to the tenets of their own systems. It was during this period that Prescott Lecky was beginning to formulate his somewhat professionally

²James C. Diggory, <u>op</u>. <u>cit.</u>, p. 34.

isolated the consistency

as a whole.

mether to

and organize

icreign to t

fluded if or

me criterio

idea and it

masistency

experiences.

Lecky s

mademic per

Many pe defend his adva conclus: themes to have spelled correct average mately

Such a

arkedly di: ^{Activation}

ⁱPresc ed. by ^{itess}, Inc.

·Ibid.

isolated theory of self-consistency. Within Lecky's selfconsistency model, the mind was conceived of as operating as a whole. As such, all of the components which went together to make up "mind" had, of necessity, to be integrated and organized. An idea, perception or cognition which was foreign to the organizational set of the mind had to be excluded if one were to remain stable.³ Individual need was the criterion for acceptance or rejection of any particular idea and it was necessary that the individual maintain a consistency between his interpretation of events and his past experiences.

Lecky suggests that standards are responsible for poor academic performance. Thus, he states:

Many people find it hard to believe that a person will defend and strive to maintain an idea which is not to his advantage. But the evidence allows of no other conclusion. For example, if we examine the letters or themes written by a poor speller, we find that he seems to have a standard of how many words should be misspelled per page. Often a word will be spelled both correctly and incorrectly in the same theme, but the average number of mistakes per page remains approximately the same.⁴

Such a theory of self-concept and behavior motivation is markedly different from the visceral-glandular explanation of motivation and self-concept determination espoused by Freud

⁴<u>Ibid</u>., p. 251.

³Prescott Lecky, <u>Self-Consistency: A Theory of Personal-</u> <u>ity</u>, ed. by Frederick C. Thorn (New York: The Shoe String Press, Inc.), p. 246.



E Compet

and others. It suggests that the development of self-concept and behavior motivation goes beyond the realm of mere drives and reduction of need into the areas of integration and consistency of present practice with past, personal experience. The term self-concept itself tends to be used not so much as a separate entity existent within the individual but as a factor which determines modes of behavior or motivation for behavior. Thus it has become a part of a larger group of terms which when taken together are useful in explaining individual behavioral response to existential conditions.

Like Lecky, Robert W. White has questioned the overuse of drives as an explanation of motivation. Rather, he suggests, "competence" is the major factor to which we should turn our attention. It is through the development of competence that the organism is able to achieve integration and what Freud and others would term an adequate concept of self. Competence is defined by White as ". . . an organism's capacity to interact effectively with its environment."⁵

For White, organismic activity is purposeful in the sense that it is directed toward effective environmental interaction; a concept which, among man and other higher animal orders, suggests the process of learning. Thus, he states:

⁵Robert W. White, "Motivation Reconsidered: The Concept of Competence," <u>Psychological Review</u>, Vol. 66 (1959), 297-333.

Schething

forces in a

learning p

learning p

We ne full; devel which

do no

It is

scuvity wh

ani operate

isense of

which extend

madencies s

ateristics

and consummation

tial for lea

ton of the

f organism

Furthe

te notivat

mientatior

E Cashill

^t<u>ibid</u>. '<u>Ibid</u>. White "Something is left out when we make drives the operating forces in animal and human behavior."⁶ Due to the prolonged learning period in man, drives are not enough to explain the learning process.

We need a different kind of motivational idea to account fully for the fact that man and the higher animals develop a competence in dealing with the environment which they certainly do not have at birth and certainly do not arrive at simply through maturation.⁷

It is White's thesis that learning (that purposeful activity which allows the organism to become integrated with and operate successfully in the environment thereby providing a sense of "self") takes place as a result of motivation which extends beyond mere primary drive motivation. While tendencies such as exploration do not share the classic characteristics of drives such as tissue deficit, hormonal factors and consummatory responses, they do carry with them the potential for learning and, therefore, stand as a partial refutation of the theory that learning motivation is a sole result of organismic response to such drives.⁸

Further de-emphasis of the concept of primary drives as the motivating force behind learning as directed toward orientation of the self in the environment, has been given by Dashill (1925) and Nissen (1930). In their studies it was

⁶Ibid., p. 48.

⁷Ibid., p. 49.

⁸White, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 58.



discovered that the motivation to explore the environment was not simply a function of primary drives such as sex, hunger or thirst. The researchers began by completely satiating these basic visceral motivators of action, thereafter placing the subjects in an unfamiliar setting. It was found that not only would the subjects seek to explore their new environment for the sake of self orientation, but that they would suffer the discomfort of traversing an electrified grid in order to do so.

The desire of higher order animals to maintain a concept of self and orientation in relation to their surroundings was demonstrated by Butler (1953), Harlow (1957), and Meyers and Miller (1954). In each of these studies the desire to explore surroundings and gain a more adequate self-orientation in the absence of visceral needs was strong enough to motivate the animals to solve discrimination problems. By thus solving these problems, the animals were rendered able to observe what was occurring outside of their cages.

From the literature generally and from studies such as those mentioned above, one can see, in the ideas of selfconcept determination, a trend away from strict adherence to primary drives as the determining factors. Such drives are, of course, of significant importance and cannot be ignored. They do not, however, seem inclusive enough to explain the multi-faceted nature of self-concept as it is known to exist.



This becomes increasingly clear as one views self-concept and achievement in both its physical and intellectual forms.

Man has long been aware of the fact that self-concept and achievement are inextricably interwoven. The ancient Greeks were a people strongly committed to excellence in both physical and mental pursuits. In this regard it is perhaps instructive to recall that the Temple at Delphi, to which many ancients of high Greek station retreated for advice as to proper action, held to be central the axiom "Know Thyself." Thus, it would appear that centuries ago, man was keenly aware of the need for a full understanding of himself and his relation to the environment in which he found himself if he were to function successfully.

Knowing oneself connotes having gained a realistic appraisal of one's strengths and weaknesses in areas of endeavor which are important to one. And it is the relationship of such self knowledge and performance which holds particular interest in the field of education. As William W. Purkey, in his book <u>Self Concept and School Achievement</u>, points out, much of the earlier research (that which occurred prior to 1960) centered around the relationship between self report and achievement as opposed to self-concept and achievement.⁹

Arthur W. Combs points up the difference between selfreport and self-concept by suggesting that the former

⁹Purkey, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 15.



". . . is what the subject is ready, willing, able or can be tricked to say he is . . . " while the latter refers to ". . . what an individual believes he is . . . "¹⁰

Whether or not one agrees with Combs' assessment of the difference between these two methods of determining an individual's perceptions of himself is not of major importance. What is significant is the empirically demonstrable relationship which exists between self-concept and achievement.

This relationship was well demonstrated in a study by Shaw, Bell and Edson (1960). The study was designed to determine how the underachiever views himself as compared with the self perceptions of the achiever. A sample of juniors and seniors in high school whose IQ scores on the Primary Mental Abilities Test did not fall below 113 was used with a grade point average of 2.00 or above being considered as indicative of achievement. The males and females were treated separately. T tests were performed to verify significant differences between the mean scores of achievers and underachievers on the PMA. Data gathered after the administration of the Sarbin Adjective Checklist led the researchers to conclude that ". . . the achievers feel relatively more positive about themselves than do the male underachievers."¹¹

¹⁰Arthur W. Combs and D. Snygg, <u>Individual Behavior</u>: <u>A Perceptual Approach to Behavior</u> (New York: Harper and Roe, 1949), p. 52.

¹¹M. C. Shaw, K. Edson, and H. M. Bell, "The Self-Concept of Bright Underachieving High School Students as Perceived by the Adjective Check List," <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, No. 39 (Nov., 1960), 195.



A somewhat less clear-cut relationship was seen between the female achievers and underachievers causing the researchers to conclude that ". . . female underachievers feel somewhat ambivalent about themselves."¹²

This relationship between self-concept and achievement was studied in depth by Combs and Snygg in 1949. They addressed themselves to the dynamics of what they termed the "phenomenal self" which includes ". . . those aspects of the perceptual field to which we all refer when we say 'I' or 'me.'"¹³

It . . . helps us to focus attention upon those aspects of the perceptual field of particular importance in understanding behavior, and at the same time makes it impossible to exclude many aspects of minor importance. . . . Man seeks not only merely the maintenance of a self but the development of an adequate self. . . .¹⁴

They continue by suggesting that: "Man seeks both to maintain and enhance his perceived self."¹⁵

Since behavior must be appropriate to the phenomenal self, changes in the phenomenal self are invariably followed by changes in behavior.¹⁶

These statements of Combs and Snygg are reinforced in a variety of studies involving students of all ages. Gowan

^{1 2} <u>Ibid</u>. ^{1 3}Combs and Snygg, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 43. ^{1 4}Combs and Snygg, <u>op</u>. cit., p. 45. ^{1 5} <u>Ibid</u>.

¹⁶Ibid., p. 375.

1960., Stu

7

tat achiev

mia more

whievers.

A rath

by Fink (19)

class of a c

EA: of boy

mier-achie:

Ined by us_{\in}

fornia Psycy

Astalt Test

Deck-list,

iescribing "

agare test

interence d

ients in sel

In a tr

Errkan and

Epie Was ;

10J. C

iimart Mart Mart XIII, (1960), studying both high school and college students found that achievers show greater self-confidence, self-acceptance, and a more positive self-concept in general than do underachievers.¹⁷

A rather exhaustive study of self-concept was conducted by Fink (1965). Using subjects selected from the freshman class of a rural high school in California, matched pairs (GPA) of boys and girls were divided into groups of over and under-achievers. The self-concept of each student was determined by use of a variety of instruments including the California Psycyhological Inventory, the Bender Visual Motor Gestalt Test, the Draw-A-Person Test, the Gouge Adjective Check-list, a personal data sheet and, finally, a brief essay describing "What will I be in twenty years?" Using a chisquare test of independence, it was found that a significant difference did exist between over and under-achieving students in self-concept adequacy.¹⁸

In a treatment of the multiple components of self-concept, Brunkan and Sheni (1965) studied 321 college students. The sample was broken into three categories; (1) efficient

¹⁷J. C. Gowan, "Factors of Achievement in High School and College," Journal of Counseling and Psychology, VII (1960), 91-95.

¹⁸Martin B. Fink, "Self-Concept as it Relates to Academic Underachievement," <u>California Journal of Educational Research</u>, Vol. XIII, No. 2 (1962), 57-62.
:eaders, LL They were Tersatilit; 9 and the of 39 scale sion of the ligh-rate \in ∺lf-confid p=.01), bles of Su ther subgra Much of ased on stu William W. J Indivi that i they r Judgem His st ^{lesting}er, seen desig: teed for co since the

> istics of tersonnel

Pur

readers, (2) effective readers, and (3) ineffective readers. They were given a battery of tests including; (1) the Reading Versatility Test (RVT); (2) the Stanford Achievement Test; (3) and the Adjective Check-list which is scored on a range of 39 scales indicating psychological set. In their discussion of the analysis of data, the researchers found that high-rate efficient readers were significantly higher on self-confidence (p = .01), Dominance (p = .01), and SAT Verbal (p = .01), and significantly lower (p = .01 to .05) on variables of Succorance, Abasement and Deference when compared to other subgroups in the study.¹⁹

Much of the literature surrounding self-concept has been based on studies of self-perception and cognitive consistency. William W. Purkey has stated:

Individuals are generally unwilling to accept evidence that is contrary to the ways they perceive themselves; they resolve conflict between evidence and personal judgement in favor of personal judgment.²⁰

His statement is well documented by a number of studies (Festinger, 1957; Festinger and Aronson, 1960) which have been designed to test the theory that there is a psychological need for cognitive consistency. That is, there is a need to reduce the discomfort which arises when a person holds two

²⁰Purkey, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 11.

¹⁹R. J. Brunkan, and F. Sheni, "Personality Characteristics of Ineffective, Effective and Efficient Readers," <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 44 (1966), 837-44.

tieas which dissonant. riduals whe ier various which does . In the several ass. ≞d rewards i that a : pod if he j based solel: spported by ad other re The hyp mise who ex sectormed we ^{n change} th The in line In the ¹² perform a breed or di gu bliud up ^{led been} led saires indic ^{atto}rt (cha ideas which are cognitively or psychologically different or dissonant. This dissonance is most commonly noted in individuals who hold a particular view of themselves but who, for various reasons, find themselves behaving in a manner which does not support this pre-conceived view of self.

In the 1962 study conducted by Aronson and Carlsmith, several assumptions were made; (1) that our society values and rewards good performance and punishes poor behavior; (2) that a person who expected not to do well should feel good if he performed well on a task. This second assumption, based solely on common sense, is one that is not necessarily supported by the studies done by Festinger and Aronson (1960) and other researchers.

The hypothesis to be tested asked the question: Will those who expect to perform poorly, upon finding that they performed well, experience psychological discomfort and seek to change their responses so as to bring their performance more in line with their expectations?

In the laboratory experiment, subjects were given a task to perform and were then given false scores which either agreed or disagreed with the expectations they had been led to build up about their own abilities on the task. Those who had been led to believe that they would do poorly, but whose scores indicated good performance, experienced greater discomfort (changed more responses) than did those who were told

they would

P. M.

concept 1r

and sugges

conce might

In his stu

Reading 1m;

ach indiv:

terns, The

thing less cl than t

The hypothe

ences among

Frover, a:

the author -

Appare fensiv Perfor

i Elii itectance i ibrormal i p. x inal of

"Ibić

they would do poorly and did perform poorly (p < .001).²¹

P. M. Roth, in his 1959 study of the "Role of Selfconcept in Achievement," referred to Rogerian Self theory and suggested that an individual:

. . . would consider it more important to maintain a conception of self than to integrate experiences which might necessitate changing the concept.²²

In his study of college freshmen who had volunteered for a reading improvement program, conditions were set up so that each individual would be pressured to change his reading patterns. The experimenter felt that,

. . . with all other factors equal, those who did something constructive from the experience would demonstrate less defensiveness in their concept of self as a reader than those who did not do as well.^{2 3}

The hypothesis that ". . . there would be significant differences among the self perceptions of the Improver, the Non-Improver, and the attrition groups"²⁴ was supported, leading the author to state that,

Apparently there was a direct relationship between defensiveness in the self-concept as a reader and relative performance in the reading improvement situation.²⁵

²¹Elliot Aronson and J. Merrill Carlsmith, "Performance Expectance as a Determinant of Actual Performance," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 65 (1962), 178-82.

²²P. M. Roth, "The Role of Self-Concept in Achievement," Journal of Experimental Education, XXVII (June, 1959), 279.

²³Ibid., p. 279.

²⁴Ibid., p. 280.

²⁵Ibid., p. 280.

The T and perform self-esteer Coopersmith public scho scio-econo ranging bet The researc 2≦.01) b∈ Schavior Ra In a c iency was f I success Median in m the .05 let: From t Senjamins, ^{lear} evider. self-concer Boademic pu tive of the ℃ cogniti ^{self}esteer 205. A) Self-Esteer S (1959) The maintenance of consistency between self perceptions and performance has its corollary in the relationship between self-esteem and achievement. In a 1959 study conducted by Coopersmith, 102 fifth and sixth grade students attending public school in a small eastern city were sampled. The socio-economic status of the locale selected was defined as ranging between middle-middle class and upper-middle class. The researchers found a significant correlation (r = .36, p < .01) between self-esteem as measured by the Self-Esteem Behavior Rating Form and scores on the Iowa Achievement Test.

In a chi square analysis of the data, a significant tendency was found for students above and below the class medians in success experiences to be likewise above or below the median in measured self-esteem ($X^2 = 5.1$, significant beyond the .05 level).²⁶

From the review of the above studies as well as others (Benjamins, 1950; Bieri and Frieschman, 1956) it would appear evident that a significant relationship exists between self-concept and achievement for students at all levels of academic pursuit. Further, such studies are highly suggestive of the desirability of educators to be aware of the need for cognitive consistency among students' self-perceptions, self-esteem and the many factors which combine to constitute

²⁶S. A. Coopersmith, "A Method for Determining Types of Self-Esteem," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, Vol. 59 (1959), 87-95.

academic a If we ccup7 we mu the : them them The c would The r aly inter led a numbe ticse aspec associated Most a others, if tertain sub Although th this notion ten, consid. ken. Stered food at mat) seemingly b ^{to not} do w to be s in educati, Ween this : thich has le ''Combs academic achievement. As Combs and Snygg have maintained:

If we are to deal effectively with behavior we must consider what our students think of themselves. Indeed, we must, if our assumptions are correct, frankly assume the responsibility for helping our students to perceive themselves in ways that will be more satisfactory to them and, through their resulting behavior, to others. The development of an adequate self by each student would seem to be a primary responsibility for us all.²⁷

The recognition that achievement in school is inextricably interwoven with the student's feelings about himself has led a number of researchers to attempt to isolate further those aspects of self-concept which seem to be most closely associated with school achievement.

Most all students, regardless of their age have heard others, if not indeed themselves, say that the concepts of certain subjects are wholly beyond their ability to master. Although the writer knows of no data which would support this notion, it seems nonetheless true that women, more than men, consider the field of mathematics to be outside their ken. Stereotypical statements such as, "I never was very good at mathematics," or, "Math just isn't my subject," can seemingly be quite indicative of those who either cannot or do not do well in the discipline. This point, while appearing to be self evident, is significant in its implications for educational psychology. And it is the relationship between this subject oriented self-concept and achievement which has led a number of researchers to delve into the area

²⁷Combs and Snygg, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 377.

:f student | me. Freque ciacademic which is al allity. T tien be mea time how ear In a 1 tent conduct Cllege in 1 sidered the e, scores gades to be In the ^{mariable} of thre achie Riege Test ^{laken} along Tiple cor themselve in the fre ^{REE-predict} ^{ietce}, as ar College S Versity c of student academic confidence and its effect upon performance.

Frequently, researchers conducting studies in the area of academic confidence make use of a self-prediction scale which is aimed at determining the students' self-concept of ability. The numerical value derived from such a scale can then be measured against other variables in order to determine how each functions as a predictor of academic confidence.

In a 1966 study of Self-Prediction of Academic Achievement conducted by Keefer, the entire student body of Bryan College in Dayton, Tennessee was used. The researcher considered the variables of high school total grade point average, scores on the American College Test, self-prediction of grades to be earned, and the actual grades achieved.

In the treatment of these data it was found that the variable of self-prediction was as reliable a predictor of future achievement as were high school records and American College Test scores. Furthermore, when self-prediction was taken along with high school records and test scores in a multiple correlational treatment, these factors, which tended by themselves to lose significance as the student progressed from the freshman year, remained significant. Thus, we see self-prediction, as it is used to determine academic confidence, as an effective predictor of curricular performance.²⁸

²⁸K. E. Keefer, "Self-Prediction of Academic Achievement by College Students," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, University of Tennessee, 1965.

John

the exampli

actual sch

350 sevent

La chi s

economic s

out, the n

wheept of

The non-pro

ation of h

cf his pro:

cant at the

While

lationship

ship betwee

Success as

It cc

is not suf

tleated st

^{success}. ^{Study} of h

Ride stud

29A. Marpromot Mainty an Maination Massertati Johnson (1968), likewise, directed his studies toward the examination of self-concept of academic ability and actual school performance. He made use of a population of 350 seventh-grade males in a mid-west public school system. In a chi square analysis where academic ability, socioeconomic status, race, and grade point average were partialled out, the non-promoted male showed a significantly lower selfconcept of academic ability than did his promoted pair-mate. The non-promoted student's perceptions of his parents' evaluation of his academic ability tended to be lower than that of his promoted pair-mate but was not statistically significant at the .05 level.²⁹

While caution should be taken not to infer a causal relationship here, these data do suggest a positive relationship between self-concept of academic ability and actual success as measured by promotion.

It could be argued that self-concept of academic ability is not sufficiently distinct from general self-concept to be treated statistically as a separate predictor of academic success. Relative to this question, Farls (1967), in his study of high and low achievment of average intermediate grade students as it related to self-concept and social

²⁹A. A. Johnson, "A Study of the Relationships between Non-promotion and the Male Student's Self-Concept of Academic Ability and His Perceived Parental, Friends', and Teachers' Evaluations of His Academic Ability," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1968.

approval,

there was

subjects!

Earther am

pated the :

formance ar

sudents in

114 Negro a

sarcher hy

ligence was

between the

students an

As a r

^{iata}, it wa

Self-c classro Caucas Were Negroes

among t

Brookov

Theen self-

taily Aver, kil-Concep sertation,

³¹Rich Mers and Comparati Mublished approval, found, in comparing high and low achievers, that there was a significant (p = .05) difference between the subjects' self concepts and their self-concepts as students.³⁰ Further amplifying this relationship, Morse (1963) investigated the relationship that exists between classroom performance and self-concept of ability among Negro and Caucasian students in a mid-western urban setting. Using a sample of 114 Negro and 1482 Caucasian eighth-grade students, the researcher hypothesized, among other things, that when intelligence was controlled, a significant relationship would exist between the self-concepts of ability of Negro and Caucasian students and their achievement.

As a result of a multiple correlational analysis of the data, it was found that:

Self-concept of ability was a better predictor of classroom achievement than I.Q. for both Negro and Caucasian students. The obtained beta weights . . . were .416 for self-concept and .032 for I.Q. among the Negroes, and .442 for self-concept and .362 for I.Q. among the Caucasians.³¹

Brookover's comprehensive study of the relationship between self-concept of ability and academic success is by far

³⁰R. J. Farls, "High and Low Achievement of Intellectually Average Intermediate Grade Students Related to the Self-Concept and Social Approval," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, University of Pittsburg, 1967.

³¹Richard C. Morse, "Self-Concept of Ability, Significant Others and School Achievement of Eighth-Grade Students: A Comparative Investigation of Negro and Caucasian Students," Unpublished M. A. Thesis, Michigan State University, 1963.

the most 1 longitudir propositic That from other funct atter The p made stud. mately 110 1,000. Fra ierived; 1d experimenta the study, used Would iore sugges for the sak Will be a r Which relat ct academic The fo :mcture: _{Но}з: ^{Ho}4:

32 Bro

the most inclusive one reviewed by this writer. In this longitudinal study the researchers took as their major proposition:

That students' self-concept of academic ability results from their perceptions of the evaluations significant others hold of their ability . . . (and) . . . in turn functions to limit the level of academic achievement attempted.³²

The population for this study was comprised of seventhgrade students (1960-1961) in a midwestern city of approximately 110,000. The total student population measured nearly 2,000. From these students, three separate populations were derived; longitudinal subjects; cross-sectional subjects; and experimental subjects. Because of the size and duration of the study, a full analysis of the populations and treatments used would be beyond the scope of this review. It is therefore suggested that the reader refer to the complete study for the sake of greater detail. What appears in this report will be a review of the researchers' hypotheses and findings which relate directly to the relationship between self-concept of academic ability and school achievement.

The following hypotheses are topically relevant at this juncture:

- Ho₃: Self-concept of academic ability is associated with academic achievement at each grade level.
- Ho₄: Changes in self-concept of academic ability are associated with parallel changes in academic achievement.

^{3 2}Brookover, Erickson, and Joiner, Part III, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 45.

^{Hc}5:

The r

malysis p

spare ana

The c grade It fa grade dents revea

stude

at a stude at a

lt was fur

Chang is si POint

Finally, i:

the hi and se perce: condi-of ab ditic

State Univ

"Ibi is Ibi ³⁶Brç Ho₅: Self-concept of academic ability is a necessary but not sufficient condition for the occurrence of high academic achievement.³³

The researchers reported the use of a variety of data analysis procedures ranging from simple correlation to chi square analysis of achievement scores. It was found that,

The correlation between self-concept of ability and grade point average ranges from .48 to .63. . . . It falls below .50 only among the boys in the 12th grade. . . The analysis of the achievement of students with high and low self-concepts of ability . . . revealed that although a significant proportion of students with high self-concepts of ability achieved at a relatively low level, practically none of the students with lower self-concepts of ability achieved at a high level.³⁴

It was further stated that,

Change in self-concept of ability over two year periods is significantly related to parallel change in grade point average.³⁵

Finally, in regard to Ho5, data suggested that,

the higher correlation between perceived evaluations and self-concepts tends to support the theory that perceived evaluations are a necessary and sufficient condition for self-concept of ability but self-concept of ability is only a necessary but not sufficient condition for achievement.³⁶

³³W. B. Brookover, E. L. Erickson, and L. N. Joiner, <u>Self-Concept of Ability and School Achievement III: Relation-</u> <u>ship of Self-Concept to Achievement in High School</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 2831 (East Lansing: Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, Feb. 1967), p. 48.

³⁴Ibid., p. 143.

³⁵Ibid., p. 143.

³⁶Brookover, Erickson, and Joiner, <u>op</u>. <u>cit.</u>, p. 142.

Recog

captly rel

۱

facet of p

change in

sciology

ieterminar.

The f.

cealing wi-

atitudes a

las observe

The vi the re Wide a

Much of the

f the noti

theory abou

attention o

the ini

Videbe

Was to inve

setting, th

bd the att

thesis that



Ser York:

Recognizing that self-concept of ability is significantly related to achievement, and that a change in that . facet of personal evaluation brings about a concomitant change in school performance, researchers in education, sociology and psychology have turned their attention to the determinants of self-concept of ability.

The forerunners of this kind of research were studies dealing with the relationship of the self-concept and the attitudes and opinions of significant others. As Videbeck has observed:

The view that one's self-conception is learned from the reactions of other individuals to him has achieved wide acceptance in social psychology today.³⁷

Much of the reason for this acceptance is the relative age of the notion of this relationship. As early as 1902, Cooley's theory about the "looking-glass self"^{3 a} was drawing the attention of people in the field and was responsible, in part, for the initiation of research in this area.

Videbeck (1960) conducted a study, the purpose of which was to investigate, in a more classically oriented research setting, the theories of Cooley and others about self-concept and the attitudes of significant others. It was Videbeck's thesis that,

³⁷Richard Videbeck, "Self-Conception and the Reactions of Others," Sociometry, Vol. 23 (1960), 351-359.

³ ⁶Charles H. Cooley, <u>Human Nature and the Social Order</u> (New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1902).

If a well, more gualı he Wa He fe rating coul a number c to wit: (1) ti to ju (2) h: the 1: (3) th refere evalue (4) t: proval Assuming th Wootheses If
 individual
 bute,
 rating
 ideal provin
 rating
 rating (2) If differ of neo lute a reacter ence

ī.

-

35Vid. · Vid

If a person is told that he is doing something very well, he will be more likely to rate himself as being more capable of doing that something or possessing the qualities related to doing it, than if he had been told he was doing it poorly.³⁹

He felt that the extent to which an individual's selfrating could be effected by another person was dependent upon a number of factors, four of which he considered in his study, to wit:

(1) the frequency with which another is in a position to judge.

(2) how qualified the other is considered to be by the individual.

(3) the strength of motivation of the individual with reference to the facet of his behavior which is being evaluated.

(4) the intensity of the other's expression of approval or disapproval.

Assuming that these four conditions were held constant, two hypotheses could then be formulated for testing:

(1) If another person reacts approvingly toward the individual with reference to some specified attribute, then the subject will change his actual selfrating, re that attribute, to a point closer to his ideal-self rating; but if the other reacts disapprovingly, then the subject will change his actual-self rating to a point further away from his ideal-self rating.

(2) If disapproving reactions do not substantially differ from approving reactions except for the element of negation, then there will be no difference in absolute amounts of change in self-ratings between subjects reacted to approvingly and disapprovingly, with reference to a given attribute.⁴⁰

³⁹Videbeck, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 352.

⁴ Videbeck, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 352.

	Thirt of Introdu
	the study.
	reading of
	ceive eith
	expert reg
	Analy
	subjects ci
	disapprova.
	amount of d
	approval gi
	the expert.
	The fi view f evaluation the

The of

were direct

concept of

to the gen

the theori

and e actor conce do ar

+: Ib +2Br

Thirty subjects, who had been rated by their instructors of Introductory Speech as being superior, were selected for the study. Each was told that he would be evaluated on his reading of six poems, and each was randomly assigned to receive either approving or disapproving reactions from the expert regardless of his performance.

Analysis of these data showed that 13 of 15 approval subjects changed in the predicted directions as did 14 of 15 disapproval subjects. Furthermore, it was found that the amount of change in self-conception was greater for the disapproval group than for those who received the approval of the expert. The researcher concluded that,

The findings of this study tend to support the general view that self-conceptions are learned, and that the evaluative reactions of others play a significant part in the learning process.⁴¹

The oft-cited studies of Brookover and associates, which were directed, in part, toward the relationship between selfconcept of ability and significant others, have added greatly to the general understanding of this relationship. One of the theories upon which their research was based was that,

. . . Human behavior is a function of the expectations and evaluations of others who are significant to the actor as perceived by him and as internalized in a selfconception of what is appropriate and proper for him to do and what he is able to do.⁴²

⁴¹Ibid., p. 359.

⁴²Brookover, Erickson, and Joiner, <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 139.

Thurry Subian of Introductory second on the other to come anattactors the study. Second on the reading of SiX 2000 of the deive sthemail expert requeres on the

over a per despite ti nificant o . . "sign senio perco demio over ceive selfreve, like the

In al for stude:

As a

work of c

Sandeen,

has been

academic

est has

attitude

ally. 1

of the

the per

The Fr

In an effort to find out who were the significant others for students, the researchers gathered data which extended over a period of six years. Their findings showed that, despite the prevalent notion that peers were the most significant others for students (Coleman, 1961),⁴³

. . . Evidence indicated that parents and other family members are more likely than any other category to be "significant others" for adolescents during junior and senior high school. . . The evaluations which students perceive parents, friends, and teachers hold for them are consistently correlated with self-concept of academic ability. The correlations range from .50 to .77 over the period of this study. Although all three perceived evaluations are significantly correlated with self-concept of ability, partial correlation analysis reveals that perceived parents' evaluation is more likely to affect self-concept than the evaluations of the peers or teachers."

As a result of Brookover's longitudinal study, and the work of others in the same and related areas (Harding, 1966; Sandeen, 1965; Erickson, 1965; Joiner, 1966) much interest has been generated about the attitudes of parents and the academic performance of their children. Most of this interest has manifested itself in research directed toward parental attitudes about their childrens' ability to perform academically. Many, however, have recognized the need for the study of the attitudes parents hold toward their child's school and the performance level which is obtained by that child (Cass,

⁴⁴Brookover, Erickson, and Joiner, op. cit., p. 142.

⁴³James Coleman, <u>The Adolescent Society</u> (Glencoe, Ill.: The Free Press, 1961).

1967; Har 1971). I that this In s struct "s toward it For educa learning relations As a and its f evaluatic: cent, the toward the of their a Brookover concept of At th ^{educators} ^{at the} ta ^{on} the pa the tacit ^{for the} a Whil tion has ^{ilfiniti}.

reason ti

1967; Hand, 1948; Jamieson, 1962; Sexton, 1964; Petersen, 1971). It is toward the clarification of this relationship that this research is directed.

In summary, then, the early recognition of the construct "self" and the many subsequent years of study aimed toward its clearer identification has led in many directions. For educators, whose chief concern is student success in the learning task, such studies have been directed toward the relationship between self-concept and achievement.

As a result of the recognition of self-concept of ability and its function as a variable which intervenes between the evaluations of significant others and actual student achievement, the attention of many researchers has been turned toward the identification of these "others" and modification of their attitudes. Such modification, as has been shown by Brookover and others, has demonstrable effects on both selfconcept of ability and student achievement.

At the same time as such research has been on-going, educators, administrators and teachers alike, have been hard at the task of developing and maintaining positive attitudes on the part of the parents whose children they serve, with the tacit assumption that such maintenance has implications for the academic success of the students whom they instruct.

While the need for research to validate such an assumption has been echoed by many educators, little if any difinitive work has been done in the area. It is for this reason that the present study was undertaken.

It was the author's purpose in Chapter III to describe the procedures used in both the gathering and analyzing of the data used in this study.



by heavy

businesse

boundarie.

The :

Mainly of

was under

of the un:

"elopment

the schoo

As o

etal hous

Principal

^{ient} Popu

¹⁹⁷¹-1972

tion and

CHAPTER III

DESIGN OF THE STUDY

Location of the Study

Data used in this study were gathered at an elementary school located in a large metropolitan area of central Michigan. The community in which the school is located is residential in nature and is supported, in only one instance by heavy manufacturing--a cement plant. While many small businesses are operating in the area adjacent to the school's boundaries, none exists within the actual attendance area.

The housing pattern in the attendance area is composed mainly of single family dwellings. A new apartment complex was under construction at the time of this writing with some of the units now completed. The existence of this new development has not, at present, had a significant effect upon the school's enrollment.

As of the spring of 1972, 154 units of low-income, federal housing had been completed. It is estimated by the principal of the school that an approximate growth in student population of one (1) per cent at the beginning of the 1971-1972 school year could be attributed to this construction and subsequent occupancy, and that by the end of the

same son 10 per c-It school a: year, go-

factors.

was felt

Other fac

action to

in attend

1971-1972

At t

housed 43

arten or

macial mag

Race

Whi

Nor

Tot

same school year the same housing accounted for approximately
10 per cent of the student population.

It is interesting to note that the mobility rate at the school approximately doubled during the 1971-1972 school year, going from about 15 per cent to nearly 30 per cent. It was felt by the administrator that this was due to several factors. The federal housing may be a causative factor. Other factors which may have been operative are parental reaction to a new busing program and/or reactions to a change in attendance boundaries; both of which occurred during the 1971-1972 school year.

At the time that these data were gathered, the school housed 432 students not including those enrolled in kindergarten or the special education program. A breakdown of the racial makup of the student body may be found in Table 3.1.

TABLE 3.1

Race	Total Number Enrolled	Per cent of Total Students
White	343	79%
Non-white	89	21%
Totals	432	100%

Racial Breakdown of Student Body of the School Used in This Study

Model and a second of the second of the

lal Puter In Report N

further s A Communi the schoo

Selection For to sample exception reasons former, tional p
Demographic Data

The various demographic data of the parent population used in this study were analyzed by use of the ACT Program¹ on the CDC 3600 Computer at Michigan State University. The characteristics of the population are summarized in Tables 3.2 through 3.5 (see Appendix B).

Staffing Pattern of the School

The school is presently in its third year of operation in a differentiated staffing mode with the staff composed of coordinators, instructors and aides. This regular staff is further supplemented by both student teachers and tutors. A Community School Coordinator has begun full-time work at the school as of September of 1972.

Selection of the Sample

For the purposes of this study it was deemed advisable to sample across all grade levels within the school, with the exception of those students who were enrolled in a special educational program and those who were in kindergarten. The reasons for these two exceptions were, in the case of the former, their exclusion from the regular, full-time instructional program and, in the case of both the former and the

¹Alan M. Lesgold, <u>Analysis of Contingency Tables</u>, Computer Institute for Social Science Research, Technical Report No. 14, Michigan State University (Revised, 1-12-68).

latter, The The util optimiza the stude Moreover, wre mear in the st since the Procedure Subs procedure principal each famij the study to the com Packe the famili its to be leach the j sent to ea ^{veeks} subs $^{x_{a}t_{a}c}t_{ed}$ the the ts conte: latter, the lack of comparably testable achievement data.

The oldest child of each family was selected for study. The utilization of such a selection procedure allowed for optimization of data gathering since a higher percentage of the students tended to have a longer tenure in the school. Moreover, it was felt that such a procedure would generate more meaningful responses on the part of the parents involved in the study relative to their attitudes toward the school since they would have had a longer association with it.

Procedures Used in Data Gathering

Subsequent to the selection of the family names by the procedures outlined above, a letter was prepared by the principal of the school and this writer which was sent to each family. The letter contained a brief explanation of the study which was to be conducted and alerted the parents to the coming questionnaire and personal data form.

Packets containing these forms were then sent to each of the families via the oldest child of each family. Since it was to be anticipated that some of these packets would not reach their destination, a follow-up letter was prepared and sent to each of the families involved in the study. Two weeks subsequent to the follow-up letter, each family was contacted by phone with the objectives of reminding them about the questionnaire and determining their reactions to its contents. While no accurate records were kept of the

general of the q tiat les or comme tiat a r To these Cf turned. stamped Michigar that mis mits. anounted original A v each res Academic ^{lest}, t) 12 rela kind of tecord . It u admi Ability. ^{stud}ent YOTK.

general reactions of the parent respondents to the contents of the questionnaire and personal data sheet, it is estimated that less than four per cent had any unfavorable reactions or comments. Upon a second telephone contact, it was found that a number of the respondents had misplaced their packets. To these, a second packet was sent by first-class mail.

Of the 273 packets sent, 202, or 74 percent, were returned. The method of return was by first-class mail using stamped return envelopes addressed to the Mott Institute at Michigan State University. Upon inspection, it was found that missing data required the deletion of 38 responding units. The total responses used in the analysis of the data amounted to 154 or 58 per cent of the total number of packets originally sent.

A variety of data were gathered for the oldest child of each responding unit including Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability, scores on the 1972 Stanford Achievement Test, the teacher-perceived academic standing of each child in relation to chronological age norms, the frequency and kind of incidents requiring teacher disciplining, and the record of attendance.

It was considered advisable to avoid the use of teachers in administering the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability Form (SLCAA) since some of the items reflected the students' perceptions of their teachers' evaluation of their work. Therefore, student tutors who were enrolled in Education

492 (The as well this writ receded æetings evaluatic students Tidually. tested in out the t child dat Each their perexpected c "above" or terms of h Judge each of inciden scale incl tences and ity includ [©]€, (3) th the saf and deter ^{Maching} t 482 (The Urban Tutorial Program) at Michigan State University, as well as volunteers from the Lansing Volunteer Bureau and this writer, conducted the student survey. A training session preceded the administration of the SLCAA form and several meetings were held during the testing period in which informal evaluations of the testing procedure were made. Each of the students in the first through fourth grades was tested individually. At the fifth and sixth grade level, students were tested in groups of four. Code numbers were utilized throughout the testing procedure in order to insure that each parentchild data unit was properly matched.

Each child was rated by his teaching team in terms of their perceptions of his academic standing in relation to expected chronological age norms. Thus, each received an "above" or "below" grade level rating which was valued in terms of half-years. Each teaching team was also asked to judge each child participant in terms of frequency and kind of incidents requiring teacher disciplining. The frequency scale included daily, weekly, bi-weekly, and monthly occurrences and the kind scale was composed of 5 degrees of severity including, (1) no infraction, (2) infraction of a minor rule, (3) disruptive or disrespectful of others, (4) threat to the safety of self or others, and (5) malicious. Each such determination was made on the consensus of the total teaching team for each child.

In consulte vere pla to diffe due, in g would be These res dealing v Fina Achievene departmen. were util batteries . Intermedia istrument. The " tutude A uder to as toward the

Lat,

Schoo aware aspect and it



In addition, the attendance records of each child were consulted for frequency of absence. Certain restrictions were placed upon the determination of absence rate in order to differentiate between what might be considered absence due, in part, to school related factors and those which would be termed legitimate absence due to diagnosed illness. These restrictions are more precisely defined in the section dealing with definition of terms.

Finally, the scores for each child on the 1972 Stanford Achievement Test were obtained through the data processing department of the school district. Four batteries of the SAT were utilized to test across grades one through six. These batteries were Primary I, Primary II, Intermediate I, and Intermediate II. In all instances, form X was used.

Instrumentation and Data Treatment

The "Your Schools" section of the Bullock <u>School-Community</u> <u>Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators</u> was used in order to ascertain the attitudes of the parent respondents toward the school. It is the opinion of the scale's author that,

School patrons and community members do . . . become aware of, and render judgements about, certain specific aspects of the school: its personnel, its policies, and its programs.²

²Robert P. Bullock, <u>School-Community Attitude Analysis</u> for Educational Administrators (Columbus, Ohio: College of Education, Ohio State University, 1959).

in in addition from the above of the formation when consulted for frequency a second second of the formation of the boldEfactor of the formation of the formation of the formation dway in party to a formation of the formation of the second would be terrain of the formation of the formation These restlicts the formation of the formation of the second depling with the formation

Fina (...) Aphieven() ...) Aphieven() ...) Appartment ...)

For of intere items wor tion. So The a populat boundarie the means coverage the 1300 suitable : A sp] School App reliabilit ficient co of cases w for interr whereby ea diterion. scales cor Subse Section to study, the for inclus Calysis w ior the la Forty statements of opinions relating to eight areas of interest were developed with approximately half of the items worded to show approval and the other half, dissatisfaction. Scoring of each item is on a five-point Likert scale.

The chosen test community was located in Ohio. It had a population of approximately 13,000 and school district boundaries included five separate townships. Students were the means of circulation of the questionnaire after newspaper coverage was given to alert the community of the study. Of the 1300 questionnaires sent home, 729 were returned and suitable for inclusion in the data bank.

A split-half coefficient of correlation for the General School Approval-Rejection section ("Your Schools") showed a reliability (r) at .48 with the estimated reliability coefficient corrected for attenuation (Rest) at .64. The number of cases was 100. The preliminary instrument was analyzed for internal consistency using an item analysis procedure whereby each item was tested in relation to the total score criterion. Each item was then tested against the six subscales contained within the "Your Schools" section.

Subsequent to the administration of the "Your Schools" section to the parent respondents in the sample for this study, the responses were coded and punched on data cards for inclusion in a factor analysis. The purpose of this analysis was to determine which factor solution would account for the largest amount of variance of the parent responses

while m of the The factor s variance of each Table 3. appropri factor. were not highest] were inci textuall: the drop efficacy loward th The items, de ing gener Were incl ^{as} a part of sense Dile tides of t ^{tella}bili ^{istermine}c while maintaining the basic format suggested by the author of the scale.

The results of this analysis indicated that a seven factor solution, which accounted for 57 per cent of the variance, best fit the above criteria. A complete listing of each of these seven factors may be found in Appendix B. Table 3.6 shows the various loadings of each item in its appropriate factor as well as the highest loading for each factor. The reader will note that, in several cases, items were not included in the factors in which they received the highest loadings. Rather, through inspection, some items were included in the factors in which they fit better contextually. In these cases, care was taken to insure that the drop in loading was not dramatic, thereby maintaining the efficacy of each of the seven sub-scales of parental attitude toward the school.

The reader will note the inclusion of two additional items, designed by this writer, which were aimed at determining general feelings of power or powerlessness. These items were included in the factor analysis and were treated both as a part of the total instrument and separately as indicators of sense of control.

Due to the central importance for this study of the attitudes of parents toward the school, it was essential that the reliability of the instrument used to test this attitude be determined. To this end, the Hoyt Test of Reliability, which

of the da

:::lizes

The response

atalyzed

ttem is c

- - -

The

ittermine

used for

mareful e:

While the

tern estab

as deemed

intended u

An in

Niate tho

ad, furthe

ten 18 sc.

Davi Mickage by the CDC 36 Missing, M Missing, M Missing, M Missing, M

W. B Micept of Mice utilizes the Reciprocal Averages Program (RAVE)³ was used. The responses of each parent to the items of the scale were analyzed by means of the split-half method wherein, each item is correlated with the total of all items. Analysis of the data by the above procedure revealed a reliability (r) at .74 for this population.

The Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability was determined by the previously outlined procedures. The scale used for this determination was developed by the writer after careful examination of the literature of Brookover and others. While the items used in this scale are modeled after the pattern established by the Self Concept of Ability Scale,⁴ it was deemed advisable to re-structure scale items due to the intended use at a lower grade level.

An interview technique was utilized in order to accommodate those students who were too young to read the items and, further, to insure reliability of administration. Each item is scaled on a five point Likert type continuum with

³David J. Wright, Fortap: A Fortran Test Analysis Package by F. B. Baker and T. J. Marthin, Revised for Use on the CDC 3600 and CDC 6500 at Michigan State University (East Lansing, Michigan: Office of Research Consultation, School for Advanced Studies, College of Education, Michigan State University, 1970). (Mimeographed).

⁴W. B. Brookover, Ann Paterson, and Shailer Thomas, <u>Self-Concept of Ability and School Achievement</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 845 (East Lansing; Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, Dec. 1962).



letter (

points,

a high 1

of the s

ments by

of the o

instrume

bility

The

relation

discipli

prepared

on the d

analysis

Stu

on the S

across a

utilize

umbers

comparat

total re

in the d the end

period c

The

^{jesire} t

letter (a) given a value of five (5) points, (b) four (4) points, and so on. A high score on the SLCAA form indicated a high level of confidence. Due to the broad range of ages of the students to whom the test was administered, some judgments by the interviewers as to the meaning of the responses of the children were necessary. The reliability of this instrument was measured by the Hoyt test and showed a reliability (r) of .70.

The various student data involving relative standing in relation to chronological age norms, frequency and kind of discipline, and absenteeism rate were tabulated on a sheet prepared by the writer. The data were then coded and included on the data control cards for treatment in the total data analysis.

Student achievement data were obtained by use of scores on the Stanford Achievement Test. Since the sample ranged across all grade levels in the school, it was impossible to utilize all sub-scales from each battery; this because the numbers of items and the character of the sub-scales were not comparable across all batteries. For this reason, only the total reading and total arithmetic percentiles were included in the data for analysis. Such percentiles were based on the end of the year norms which is in keeping with the testing period of the students in the school being studied.

The decision to use percentile scores was based upon the desire to maintain comparability across all grade levels.



Ecwever, selves r it was r. ing. To

> ard (z) a table. 1

of the re

curve dis

squares d

avoid the

aided to

alvsis (

In ac

pose of wh

ind the le

Were util:

Study, it

Secant r

this analy

ay be sta

Hents (R2

talyzed to

dependen.

Defficient

However, due to the fact that percentiles distribute themselves rectangularly across any given population or sample, it was necessary to make transformations of each such ranking. To that end, all percentiles were converted to standard (z) scores by use of a cumulative normal probabilities table. The net result of this transformation was the fitting of the rectangularly distributed percentiles to a normal curve distribution thereby allowing their use in the least squares deletion form of a regression analysis. In order to avoid the occurrence of negative numbers, a constant of 5 was added to each of the transformed scores.

Analysis of the Data

In addition to the use of the factor analysis, the purpose of which has been described above, simple correlation and the least squares deletion form of regression analysis were utilized. Because of the comparative nature of this study, it was felt that the least squares delete form of analysis would be the most indicative and informative of significant relationships. Two approaches are possible using this analytic form. In the first instance, the hypothesis may be stated that the squared multiple correlation coefficients (R^2) will be equal to zero. The data may then be analyzed to determine the extent to which the inclusion of independent variables causes the squared multiple correlation coefficients to vary from that point; the level of significance

of such basis of A s to which. creases ient var or not s: Garret ch The be a vari in c cien dete bles tell in d The Level The of confid f confid connittin simultane error. I ^{te well} s ^{caused} th uficant1



of such variance being determined by the researcher on the basis of the nature of the particular study.

A second method can be used which determines the extent to which the squared multiple correlation coefficient decreases as a result of the stepwise deletion of the independent variables. Again, the test to be applied is whether or not such deletion leads to a significant decrease in (R²). Garret characterizes the operation of this analysis thus:

The regression coefficients . . . give the weights to be attached to the scores in each of the independent variables when X, is to be estimated from all of these in combination. Furthermore, these regression coefficients give the weights which each variable exerts in determining X, when the influence of the other variables is excluded. From the regression equation we can tell just what role each of the several variables plays in determining the score in X_1 , the criterion.⁵

The Level of Significance

The hypotheses of this study were tested at the .10 level of confidence. It is recognized by the writer that this level of confidence carries with it a somewhat increased chance of committing a Type I error. It is noted, however, that this simultaneously decreases the chances of committing a Type II error. It is felt that the purpose of this study would not be well served if an overly rigorous level of significance caused the researcher to disregard variables that are significantly accurate predictors of the criterion.

⁵Henry E. Garret, and R. S. Woodworth, <u>Statistics in</u> <u>Psychology and Education</u> (New York: David McKay Company, Inc., 1958), p. 412.

and the (2 -), - α² (1 - 2 -), - πix(k) (1 - 1 - 2 -), forthere (1 - 1 - 2 - 1), (* B) (2 - 1), (* B) (2 - 1), (* B) (2 - 1), (* C) (* C) (* C), (* C) (* C) of such reliant. hasis of the reliant to which if. dank visition or not such to reliant be of

It procedur used in study an was foll data. Pro gatherin ments use the reli. for the testing

Summary

The

hypothes

level of

Cha

for this

the test

Summary

It has been the purpose of this chapter to describe the procedures used in both gathering and analyzing the data used in this study. A description of the location of the study and its general housing and business characteristics was followed by a detailed analysis of various demographic data.

Procedures for the selection of the sample and the gathering of the data were outlined. Each of the instruments used in the data gathering procedure was described and the reliability of each was reported. A rationale was given for the selection of both the kind of analysis to be used in testing the data for significance and the selection of the level of significance to be used.

The final section of this chapter was devoted to the hypotheses to be tested.

Chapter IV contains the analysis of the data collected for this study and their interpretation as they relate to the testable hypotheses.

Simmer

Procedures and the set of the set

Thi The first hypothese cussion of summary of second se in Chapte mental da these que where nec of the fi hypothese

lests of

The for the part of the part o

tion 2. ti

thei

•

CHAPTER IV

ANALYSIS OF THE DATA

This chapter is divided into three major sections. The first section deals with the tests of the two major hypotheses. Following the test of each hypothesis, a discussion of the results of the test is given. Finally, a summary of the findings of each test is supplied. The second section deals with the ancillary guestions raised in Chapter I. In the case of each such question, supplemental data are presented and analyzed which serve to answer these questions. Summaries of these findings are presented where necessary. Finally, the third section is an overview of the findings of the study encompassing both the major hypotheses and the ancillary questions.

Tests of the Hypotheses

The hypotheses used in this study were tested separately for the primary and intermediate groups. The decision to so test was based on several assumptions:

1. the ages of the parents will tend to vary in relation to their children's ages and grade level.

2. the income of the parents may vary in relation to their age and subsequent tenure in the job market.



3. the years of schooling of the heads of the households, and of the mothers may vary in relation to their ages.

4. overall parental attitude toward the school may tend to vary in relation to the number of years the parents have been associated with the school.

5. factors of parental attitude may vary as predictors of the various criteria as a result of length of association with the school.

In addition to the above two way analysis of the data, special test treatment was given to the scores of parents on the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators (SCAAEA). Since, as noted in Chapter III, the total SCAAEA scale was broken down into its component parts (factors), it was deemed advisable to use each of these factors separately both as predictors and as criteria. By so treating the parent attitude scores, it was felt that a more meaningful analysis of relationships could be accomplished.

In testing the first hypothesis, an attempt was made to deal with each of the seven factors individually while at the same time relieving the reader of the burden of an overly lengthy analysis. To this end, it was decided that a brief statement of the test of the hypothesis would be supplemented by several tables which summarize the relationships between the predictor variables and the various factor criteria. These tables may be found in Appendix A. The following summary of the contents of these tables will characterize the meaning and importance of the table entries and may serve to facilitate an understanding of the relationships.

2. la no ac of 3. co: nu

R

l. la the ble

4. Mon su: tic equ

NNoslestototototoc

1. (R^2) : signifies the multiple coefficient of correlation and represents the per cent of the variance of the criterion accounted for by those predictor variables not deleted from the regression equation.

2. Partial (r): is the partial coefficient of correlation for each of the predictor variables which were not deleted from the regression equation and which are accurate predictors of the criterion at the .10 level of significance.

3. Alpha Level: is an indicator of the probability of committing a Type I error (unjustified rejection of the null hypothesis).

4. Pearson (r): is the coefficient of Pearson Product Moment Correlation for each of the relationships wherein such coefficients were significant and where said relationships were not contained in multiple regression equations.

Null Hypothesis I:

Neither student scores on the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability form, the scores of students on standardized tests of achievement, child standing in relation to chronological age norms, absence rate, frequency or kind of disciplinary problems, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, the income level, race, parental perceptions of power or powerlessness, nor any subset of these variables, when taken simultaneously in a multiple regression equation, will correlate with the scores of parents on the Bullock <u>School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Admin</u>istrators.

Alternate Hypothesis I:

Student scores on the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability form, the scores of students on standardized tests of achievement, child standing in relation to chronological age norms, absence rate, frequency of kind of disciplinary problems, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, the income level, race, parental perceptions of power or powerlessness, or any subset of these variables, when taken simultaneously in a multiple regression equation, will correlate with the scores of parents on the Bullock <u>School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Admin-</u> istrators.



Ir.
tions ar
it was i
ין פאנגענט
ວມນຽບ (•-
ine nul.
factors
through the
nonshi:
the seve
Liscuss:
The
subsets
lated w
the second s
1 1-2- 1
>CUSS
1. am de
th . n
۰۰ عر
wi ch
at Wi
• 0
23
2. en
21

.

In an analysis of fourteen separate regression equations and Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients, it was found that each factor of the Bullock SCAAEA was accurately and significantly ($p \leq .10$) predicted by some subset of the predictor variables against which it was tested. The null hypothesis was, therefore, rejected for all such factors and the alternate hypothesis accepted. Tables 4.1 through 4.7 (see Appendix A) illustrate the strength of relationship of each of the predictor variables in relation to the seven factor criteria.

Discussion of Data Analysis for Hypothesis I

The results of the data analysis indicated that various subsets of the predictor variables were significantly correlated with the seven factor criteria of the Bullock CSAAEA. For purposes of clarification, each of these factors and their relationships to the various predictor variables are discussed in turn:

1. Positive attitudes toward maintenance of buildings among parents of both primary and intermediate age students were accurately and significantly predicted by the scores of students on the SCLAA scale (p = .015 and .009). Similarly, in both groups, positive parental attitudes toward building maintenance were correlated with parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school (p = .005 and .019). Positive attitudes toward building maintenance were associated with white parents of intermediate age students (p = .007). No such relationship existed for parents of primary age children.

2. Positive attitudes toward building adequacy of parents of primary age students were significantly predicted by income (p = .081), and the years of

sc to pa no pr 3. comment to Amator to Amator to cer. .00 to of pos com der 4. trapprograms trapprograms transmission of the state of

L

schooling of the mother (p = .023). Positive attitudes toward building adequacy were associated with white parents of intermediate age students (p = .005). Again, no such relationship was found for the parents of primary age students.

3. The attitudes toward school-community relations and communications among parents of both primary and intermediate age students were found to be accurately and significantly predicted by the parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school (p = .005). Among parents of primary students, positive attitudes toward school-community relations and communications were related to lessened years of schooling of the head of the household (p = .014) and high reading percentile scores for their children (p = .020). High reading percentile scores (p = .068), Math percentile scores (p =.007), teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .068) and low incidences of discipline problems (p = .068) were associated with positive attitudes toward school-community relations and communications among parents of intermediate age students.

4. Positive parental attitudes toward <u>social skills</u> <u>training</u> were significantly associated with parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school for parents of both primary (p = .001) and intermediate age students (p = .005). Among parents of primary age students, positive attitudes toward social skills training were associated with less numerous years of schooling of the head of the household (p = .010) and high reading percentile scores (p = .072). Among intermediate age students, where parental attitudes toward social skills training were positive, incidences of discipline problems were low (p = .039). Positive attitudes toward such training were associated with white parents of intermediate age students (p = .022). No such relationship was found for parents of primary age students.

5. Positive parental attitudes toward <u>academic</u> skills training were again associated with parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school for both groups of parents (p = .0005). Among primary age students, where parental attitudes toward academic training were positive, reading percentile scores were high (p = .041), and the years of schooling of the head of the household were low. Positive parental attitudes toward academic training were associated with high levels of academic confidence (p = .010) and low incidences of discipline problems (p = .070) for intermediate age students.

and a second s

Ang we is a second of a second

school con of to parents parents primary or primary or community affication bows bows contile con

COL mat Pos mur par Wit 7. Wer pro (p For wer hea Rea cep age stu stu ten der Wer abs int sti for Nu. Ne. to der re que Sch ind

an in sco

6. co si po en sti wei foi mot sai

6. Positive parental attitudes toward school boardcommunity relations and communications were found to be significantly predicted by parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school for parents of both primary (p = .005) and intermediate age students (p = .001). Such positive parental attitudes were associated with less numerous years of schooling for both the heads of households (p = .045) and the mothers (p = .070) of primary age students. For this same group, where parental attitude toward school boardcommunity relations and communications were positive, math percentile scores of students were low (p = .07). Positive parental attitudes toward this facet of communication were found to be associated with black parents of intermediate age students (p = .018) and with higher levels of income (p = .064).

7. Positive parental attitudes toward student management were associated with parental perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school for both primary (p = .017) and intermediate age students (p = .005). For parents of primary students, such positive attitudes were associated with lessened years of schooling for the heads of households (p = .09), and the mothers (p = .05). Reading percentile scores (p = .052) and teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .03) were found to be low for primary age students whose parents held positive attitudes toward student management. Incidences of discipline problems tended to be high (p = .05). For intermediate age students, where parental attitudes toward student management were positive, math percentile scores (p = .029) and absence rate (p = .011) were both low. Black parents of intermediate students evidenced positive attitudes toward student management (p = .002). No such relationship was found for parents of primary age students.

Null Hypothesis II:

Neither the scores of parents on the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators, the student scores on the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability form, child standing in relation to chronological age norms, absence rate, frequency or kind of disciplinary problems, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, income level, race, perceived power or powerlessness, nor any subset of these variables, when taken simultaneously in a multiple regression equation will correlate with the scores of students on the standardized achievement tests.



 $\overline{\mathbb{G}}$
Alternate Hypothesis II:

The scores of parents on the Bullock School-Community Attitude Analysis for Educational Administrators, the student scores on the Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability form, child standing in relation to chronological age norms, absence rate, frequency or kind of disciplinary problems, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, income level, race, perceived power or powerlessness, or any subset of these variables, when taken simultaneously in a multiple regression equation will correlate with the scores of students on the standardized achievement tests.

The second hypothesis was tested in the same manner as the first with four separate regression equations used to accommodate both levels (primary and intermediate) and achievement areas (reading and math). In the analysis it was found that both reading and math percentile scores, when used as the criterion, were accurately and significantly ($p \le .10$) predicted by some subset of the predictor variables against which they were tested. The null hypothesis was, therefore, rejected for both the reading and math criteria and the alternate hypothesis was accepted.

Tables 4.8 and 4.9 (see Appendix A) illustrate the strength of relationship of each of the predictor variables in relation to the two achievement criteria (reading and math). The same format was used for table construction as was established for the test of the first hypothesis.

The results of the analysis indicated that various subsets of the predictor variables were accurate and significant predictors of both reading and math percentile scores for primary and intermediate age students. Each of these predictor

	l
varia:	5.
crite	r
	1
	in YE
	(<u>;</u> >
	s: Pa
	I.€ Sir
	n a
	St h.
	na na
	C C (E
	(1)
	2. me
	sc de
	hi to
	of bo
	ag
	C0
	1 1
	Ma
	at CC
	•O Ma
	Ila
	pe sc
	sc ti
	Me

variables and their contribution to the reading and math criteria is discussed below.

1. High reading percentile scores among primary and intermediate age students were associated with greater years of schooling for both the heads of households (p = .050 and .064) and the mothers (p = .008 and > .001). Low incidences of discipline problems were similarly related for both groups (p = .094 and .023). Parental attitudes were negative toward student management (p = .083) and positive with regard to social skills training (p = .017).

Among intermediate age students, where reading percentile scores were high, teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms were high ($p \ge .005$). Parents' attitudes toward building maintenance (p = .072), and social skills training (p = .090), were negative while attitudes toward schoolcommunity relations and communications were positive (p = .070).

2. High <u>math percentile scores</u> among primary and intermediate age students were associated with more years of schooling of the mother (p = .060 and .001), low incidences of discipline problems (p = .05 and .007), and high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms ($p \ge .001$). The attitudes of parents toward student management were negative for both groups (p = .07 and .021). Among parents of primary age students, where math percentile scores of their children were high, their attitudes toward school boardcommunity relations and communications (p = .046), and building adequacy (p = .023) were negative. Positive attitudes toward building maintenance were found (p = .958).

Among parents of intermediate age students where the math percentile scores of their children were high, their attitudes toward school board-community relations and communications (p = .046), and building adequacy (p = .023) were negative. Positive attitudes toward building maintenance were found (p = .058).

Among parents of intermediate age students where the math percentile scores of their children were high, their perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school were also high (p = .001). Their attitudes toward school-community relations and communications were positive (p = .007). High math percentile scores among intermediate students were also associated with more years of schooling for the head of the household (p = .020).

Supplementary Data

In addition to the testable hypotheses, several ancillary questions were posed, each in order to further clarify the elements dealt with in this study and to gain greater understanding of the relationships which exist among them. These questions are as follows:

1. How do parents feel about the school; its curriculum, student management, services, school-parent cummunications, facilities and administration?

2. What is the prevailing level of confidence of academic ability of the students in the school?

3. Is there a significant correlation between parental attitude toward the school and student level of confidence of academic ability?

Parental Attitude Toward the School

Table 4.10 (see Appendix A) contains the mean score for the total parent respondent group. The mean score of 122.66 would indicate that the average response of the parent population was above the point which would be considered "no opinion" or "undecided." This observation is based on the nature of the five-point Likert type scale used in which the mid-point of the scale (2.5) would indicate such indecision or lack of opinion.

2.5 = Mid-point in response scale

- 42 = Number of items in the Parent Attitude Scale
- 42 x 2.5 105 = Expected mean score of parent population having no opinion.



- Keeping in
- ful understand
- (parents of chi
- I and II) vary
- Appendix A) cor
- each of the fac
- mean scores for
- and Intermediat
- sentation of th
- total mean may
- 4-H (see Append
 - As indicat
- on the Bullock
- possible to use
- up this total s
- was based on th
 - l. The ove entity whi ficity req
 - 2. Some as to define all facets dence of A to confour analysis c

 - The use of
- standing of the
- Parent attitude
- ^{importance} rela

Keeping in mind the total group allows a more meaningful understanding of the way in which the various sub-groups (parents of children in the Primary I and II and Intermediate I and II) vary around the group mean. Table 4.10 (see Appendix A) contains the means and standard deviations for each of the factors of the Bullock SCAAEA. In addition, the mean scores for each of the four levels (Primary I and II and Intermediate I and II) are indicated. A visual repfesentation of the variation of the four level-means about the total mean may be obtained by consulting Charts 4-A through 4-H (see Appendix A).

As indicated previously, the total scores of parents on the Bullock SCAAEA were not used for analysis where it was possible to use the various factors which go together to make up this total score. The decision to use such factor scores was based on the following assumptions:

1. The overall parental attitude is a many-faceted entity which, when viewed as a whole, lacks the specificity required for comparative analysis.

2. Some aspects of parental attitude, while important to define and study, are not of sufficient import for all facets of achievement and Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability. To include these would tend to confound the data and make difficult a meaningful analysis of relationships.

The use of these factors requires, however, some understanding of the relationship of each such factor to the total parent attitude variable. Not all factors were of equal importance relative to the total Bullock SCAAEA score.

Table 4.11 (see tance in terms means for the p The data students, atti: following order 1. Buildir 2. Buildir 3. School-4. Social 5. Academ: 6. School 7. Student For the in indicated with training and ad Some change fro school was agai intermediate le As indica ^{mean score} of ^{pcint} (105) wh the school. 7 ^{School-}Communi ^{liequacy}, Scho Academic Skil Relations and all groups wi Stident Manag Table 4.11 (see Appendix A) illustrates this relative importance in terms of the ratio of expected means to observed means for the primary and intermediate groups.

The data indicated that, for the parents of primary age students, attitudes ranged from most to least positive in the following order:

- 1. Building Maintenance
- 2. Building Adequacy
- 3. School-Community Relations and Communications
- 4. Social Skills Training
- 5. Academic Skills Training
- 6. School Board-Community Relations and Communications
- 7. Student Management

For the intermediate group, the same rank ordering was indicated with the exception of the factors of social skills training and academic training which reversed positions. Some change from positive to negative of attitude toward the school was again noted in the progression from primary to intermediate levels.

As indicated by Table 4.10 (see Appendix A), the total mean score of parents on the Bullock SCAAEA was above the point (105) which would indicate a lack of attitude toward the school. The same was true of the factors dealing with School-Community Relations and Communications, Building Adequacy, School Maintenance, Social Skills Training, and Academic Skills Training. Factor III, School Board-Community Relations and Communications showed sufficient strength in all groups with the exception of Intermediate I. Factor IV, Student Management, lacked strength for all groups except

Primary I. Ta that among the factors I (Sch III (School Bc IV (Student Ma Skills Trainir parental attit Primary I grou was observed t tended to decr through the gr attitudes wer \in through the fi the group mean ^{group}. The ov are shown for Appendix A). In summa: Parents toward ^{indicate} a la ^{Were noted} fo ^{lations} and C ^{ly}, there was ^{become} less I ^{increas}ed. ^{Were m}ost po:

Primary I. Tables 4-A through 4-H (see Appendix A) indicated that among the total mean scores and the mean scores on factors I (School-Community Relations and Communications), III (School Board-Community Relations and Communications), IV (Student Management), V (Building Maintenance), VI (Social Skills Training), and VII (Academic Skills Training), the parental attitudes toward the school were higher for the Primary I group than for the other three groups. Thus, it was observed that the attitudes of parents toward the school tended to decrease in positivism as their children progressed through the grades. For factor II (Building Adequacy), these attitudes were seen to decrease from the Primary I group through the first intermediate level, thence to climb above the group mean and the Primary I level in the Intermediate II group. The overall variation of means about the group mean are shown for each of the four levels in Chart 4-A (see Appendix A).

In summary, it was found that the total attitudes of the parents toward the school were above the point which would indicate a lack of opinion. Some minor variations of this were noted for factors III and IV (School Board-Community Relations and Communications and Student Management). Generally, there was a tendency for the attitudes of parents to become less positive as the age and level of their children increased. Finally, it was found that parental attitudes were most positive toward Building Maintenance and Building

-----Adequacy, lea tions and Corr School-Commun and Academic . Student Confi Table 4. Form for each M Level Primary Primary Intermed Intermed The ten-^{A score} of 2 ^{way b}etween j ^{Table} 4.12, ^{scores} above 64

Adequacy, least positive toward School Board-Community Relations and Communications and Student Management leaving School-Community Relations and Communications, and Social and Academic Skills Training at varying points in between.

Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability

Table 4.12 illustrates the mean scores on the SCLAA Form for each level of the student population.

TABLE 4.12

Mean Scores of Students on SCLAA Form

	$\overline{X} = 36.63$	
Level	Mean Score	
Primary I	37.31	
Primary II	36.54	
Intermediate I	36.85	
Intermediate II	35.80	

The ten-item SCLAA Form allowed a possible score of 50. A score of 25 on this instrument indicated a position midway between positive and negative SCLAA. As indicated in Table 4.12, all four levels of student respondents had mean scores above this point, showing a positive Confidence Level

of Academic A

L

ental attitud

(move toward t

from early to

a similarity ϵ

II and the Int

ability among

eral factors c

leans on Schoo

Academic Skill

Correlational Attitude Toway
Level of Conf
Where pa
^{a whole} and c
^{coefficient} o
mficant beyo
the separate
As indic
nificant par-
SCLAA and the
ing offered
^A similar re

the attitude:

= q) lood

of Academic Ability. It was noted, however, that like parental attitude toward the school, SCLAA tended to decrease (move toward the negative pole) as the students progressed from early to later years of elementary school. Moreover, a similarity existed between the variability of the Primary II and the Intermediate I groups on SCLAA and the variability among the same groups of parent respondents on several factors of the Bullock SCAAEA (total group means, and means on School-Community Relations and Communications and Academic Skills Training).

Correlational Relationship Between Parental Attitude Toward the School and Student Level of Confidence of Academic Ability

Where parent scores on the Bullock SCAAEA were taken as a whole and correlated pair-wise with SCLAA (Pearson r) the coefficient of correlation for the total population was significant beyond the .05 level. The same was not true where the separate levels were tested individually.

As indicated in the test of the first hypothesis, significant partial correlations were found to exist between SCLAA and the attitudes of parents toward the academic training offered to their intermediate age children (p = .010). A similar relationship was found to exist between SCLAA and the attitudes of parents toward building maintenance in the school (p = .009). For the primary age group, a significant

> partial corre: toward buildi:

> > Thus it :

tudes of the :

with SCLAA, th

strength of $\mathbf{r}\epsilon$

primary and in

Where the sevent tested individ

intermediate o

demic training was high and,

toward buildi

positive.

Summary

The fin in two sections data relations we vant to the hypotheses questions

^{ċata} gener

partial correlation existed between the attitudes of parents toward building maintenance and SCLAA (p = .015).

Thus it may be inferred that while the composite attitudes of the parent population did correlate significantly with SCLAA, this relationship, although extant, lost the strength of relationship requisite for significance when the primary and intermediate groups were tested separately. Where the seven separate factors of parent attitude were tested individually against SCLAA, it was found for the intermediate group that, where parental attitude toward academic training and building maintenance were positive, SCLAA was high and, for the primary group, where parental attitude toward building maintenance was positive, SCLAA was likewise positive.

Summary

The findings of this study were presented in this chapter in two sections. First, the hypotheses were tested and the data relating to them were analyzed. Second, the ancillary questions were posed and analyzed in terms of the data relevant to them. In order to facilitate summarization, the hypotheses (presented in the form of questions) and ancillary questions will be restated and responded to in terms of the data generated.

I How do the student manage facilities an Analysis tudes of The high at the e and tend positive grade le primary a vis-a-vis positive communica was occup school-co skills tr II. What is th ability of the The stude dence lev tude towa positivis level in SCLAA SCO was simil these sam III. Is there ^{tude} toward th ^{academic} abilı The data treated a correlati populatio groups, t significa ^{tude} were were foun toward bu $^{\text{IV}}$. Is there a the parents on the predictor the head of the evel parenta cipline, and al standing of stu

I. How do the parents feel about the school, its curriculum, student management, services, school-parent communications, facilities and administration?

Analysis of the data revealed that, overall, the attitudes of the parents were positive toward the school. The highest incidence of positivism was found to exist at the early stages of student tenure in the school, and tended, with some minor variation, to become less positive as the students progressed from lower to higher grade levels. The attitudes among parents of both primary and intermediate age students were most positive vis-a-vis building maintenance and adequacy, and least positive regarding school board-community relations and communications, and student management. A middle ground was occupied variously by parental attitudes toward school-community relations and communications, social skills training and academic skills training.

II. What is the prevailing level of confidence of academic ability of the students in the school?

The students, as a group, demonstrated positive confidence levels of academic ability. Like parental attitude toward the school, SCLAA tended to lessen in its positivism as the students progressed from level to level in the school. Moreover, the variability of SCLAA scores among Primary II and Intermediate I groups was similar to the variability of scores of parents of these same groups on the Bullock SCAAEA.

III. Is there a significant correlation between parental attitude toward the school and student level of confidence of academic ability?

The data indicated that where parental attitude was treated as a composite entity, a significant (p < .05)correlation did exist between the two. When the parent population was broken into primary and intermediate groups, the relationship, while extant, did not maintain significance. Where the seven factors of parental attitude were tested separately, significant relationships were found to exist between SCLAA and parental attitude toward building maintenance and academic training.

IV. Is there a significant correlation between the scores of the parents on the Bullock SCAAEA and all or any subset of the predictor variables of SCLAA, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, race, income level, parental perceptions of power or powerlessness, discipline, and absence rate of the students and the academic standing of students in relation to chronological age norms?

The test ing each as crite: spondent separate Correlat above me related ents tow SCAAEA. V. Is there

students on subset of th schooling of tions of pow of the stude to chronolog seven factor

> The test both re the proresult: above procontrol of the procontrol of the procontrol of the proresult: above procontrol of the procontrol o

Chapte

Implication

The test of this hypothesis was accomplished by treating each of the seven Bullock SCAAEA factors separately as criteria for both the primary and intermediate respondent groups. Analysis of the resulting fourteen separate regression equations and Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients revealed that subsets of the above mentioned predictor variables were variously correlated (p = .070 to < .005) with the attitudes of parents toward all of the seven factors of the Bullock SCAAEA.

V. Is there a significant correlation between the scores of students on the Stanford Achievement Test and all, or any subset of the predictor variables of SCLAA, the years of schooling of the mother, race, income level, parental perceptions of power or powerlessness, discipline, and absence rate of the students, academic standing of the student in relation to chronological age norms or the attitudes of parents on the seven factors of the Bullock SCAAEA?

The test of this hypothesis was accomplished by treating both reading and math percentile scores separately for the primary and intermediate groups. Analysis of the resulting four hypotheses revealed that subsets of the above predictor variables were variously correlated (p = .090 to < .0005) with the reading and math percentile scores of primary and intermediate age students.

Chapter V is devoted to the summary, conclusions and

implications of this study.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

This final chapter begins with a summary of the purposes of this study, the review of the literature, and the research design used. Conclusions drawn from the data are followed by the implications for the theory generated in Chapter II, and hence for the practice of administration. Implications for further research will conclude the chapter.

Purpose of the Study

This study was undertaken in order to determine what, if any, is the relationship between parental attitude toward the school (as modified by income level, race, the years of schooling of the head of the household and of the mother, and Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness), Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability, and selected indices of student achievement including standardized test scores, rate of absenteeism, frequency of disciplinary action taken by the child's teacher, and academic standing in relation to chronological age norms.

Review of the Literature

The review of the literature for this study was couched in a historical-developmental setting which carried with it a manifold aim: First, to demonstrate the development of psychological thinking with regard to self-concept and selfconcept of academic ability; Second, to point up the relationship which exists between self-concept, in its several forms, and achievement in both infra-human and human subjects; Third, to highlight the development of self-concept of academic ability as an empirically definable and testable construct and its relationship to academic achievement; Fourth, recognizing the relationship of self-concept and achievement, to demonstrate the importance of the attitudes and perceptions of significant others as determiners of self-concept; Fifth, to characterize the direction of previous research into the importance of such significant others and to illustrate the need for the study of parental attitude toward the school as a significant predictor of student confidence level of academic ability and student achievement.

Self-Concept as a Psychological Construct

Self-concept as a construct was traced briefly in its evolution to the present century. The change from an introspective to the more empirical approach of studying selfconcept was outlined with specific reference to the writings of Freud and Jung. Lecky's theory of self-consistency was

was discussed in terms of its departure from the visceralglandular explanation of behavior motivation. Further examination was given to the de-emphasis of primary drives as determiners of behavior motivation with reference to the writings of White (1959), Dishill (1925), Nissen (1930), Butler (1953), Harlow (1957) and Meyers and Miller (1954).

Self-Concept and Achievement

The relationship between self-concept and achievement was given some historical grounding. A variety of studies were summarized which demonstrated this relationship in research settings including the work of Shaw, Bell and Edson (1960), Combs and Snygg (1949), Gowan (1960), Fink (1965), and Brunkan and Sheni (1965). The theory of cognitive consistency as a psychological need and determiner of selfconcept was discussed. Specifically, the studies of Festinger (1957), Festinger and Aronson (1960), Aronson and Carlsmith (1962), Roth (1959), and Coopersmith (1959) were highlighted.

Self-Concept of Academic Ability

Recognition of the relationship between self-concept and student success has led a number of researchers to attempt to further isolate those aspects of self-concept which seem to be most closely associated with student achievement. Studies of self-prediction and related student success (Keefer, 1966), and self-concept of academic ability (Johnson, 1968) were

reviewed. Farls study (1967) of achievement and self-concept of academic ability demonstrated that there was a significant (p = .05) difference between subjects' self-concepts and their self-concepts as students. A further amplification of this was furnished by Morse (1963).

The comprehensive, longitudinal study of Brookover of the relationship between self-concept of ability and academic success was discussed in some detail. Their data indicated a strong correlation (p = .48 to .63) between self-concept of ability and grade point average. Further, they found that change in self-concept of ability over a period of two years was significantly correlated with change in grade point average.

Significant Others and Self-Concept of Academic Ability

Recognizing that self-concept of ability is significantly related to achievement, and that a change in that facet of personal evaluation brings about a concomitant change in school performance, researchers in education, sociology and psychology have turned their attention to the determinants of self-concept of ability. To illustrate this thrust in educational research, the "looking-glass self" theory of Cooley was cited along with the studies of Videbeck (1960) which were designed to investigate, in a more classically oriented research setting, this theory. Videbeck's findings supported

the notion that self-conception is learned and that the **opinions** and evaluations of significant others are of significant import in such learning.

The findings of Brookover added greatly to the general understanding of the relationship between self-concept of academic ability and the evaluations of significant others. In an effort to find out who were the significant others for students, these researchers gathered data which extended over a period of six years. Their findings indicated that, contrary to the prevalent notion that peers were the most significant others:

. . . Evidence indicated that parents and other family members are more likely than any other category to be "significant others for adolescents."¹

Conclusion

As a result of the studies of Brookover and others in the same and related areas (Harding, 1966; Sandeen, 1965; Erickson, 1965; Joiner, 1966) much interest has obtained about the relationship between student achievement and the attitudes of their parents. Most of the research growing out of this interest has been directed toward the study of

¹W. B. Brookover, E. L. Erickson, and L. N. Joiner, <u>Self</u> <u>Concept of Ability and School Achievement III: Relationship</u> <u>of Self-Concept to Achievement in High School</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 2831 (East Lansing: Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, Feb. 1967), p. 142.



the n epinant intro -



parental attitudes about their children's ability to perform academically. Many (Cass, 1967; Hand, 1968; Jamieson, 1962; Sexton, 1964; Petersen, 1971), however, have suggested the need for research into the attitudes of parents toward their children's school and the relationship of such attitudes to actual achievement. It was toward a clarification of this relationship that this research was directed.

Design of the Study

In order to test the hypotheses of this study and to answer the ancillary questions that were posed, two instruments were used: The Bullock <u>School-Community Attitude</u> <u>Analysis for Educational Administrators</u> (SCAAEA) and the <u>Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability form (SCLAA)</u>. Both tests were subjected to the Hoyt Test of Reliability and yielded reliability coefficients of .74 and .70 respectively.

Prior to the administration of the Bullock SCAAEA, Parents were apprised of the study by means of a letter which gave a brief explanation and alerted them to the coming questionnaires and personal data forms. Packets containing these forms were sent to each of the families via the oldest child in each family. A follow-up letter was sent approximately One week after the initial circulation in order to insure that the packets had reached their destination. Additional packets were sent by mail to those families who had not

received theirs. Two weeks subsequent to the follow-up letter, each family was contacted by telephone with the objectives of reminding them about the questionnaire and determining their reactions to its contents. Two hundred two (74 per cent) of the packets were returned. Missing data required the deletion of 48 responding units. Thus, 58 per cent of the total number of packets sent were suitable for use in the data analysis. The responses of parents on the Bullock SCAAEA were analyzed factorially to identify the major components of the scale which, when taken together, made up the total parental attitude spectrum tested by this instrument.

The scores of students on the Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability form (SCLAA) were obtained in an interview setting; this because the inclusion of first level students ruled out the possibility of the students reading the form, and because uniformity of administration was desired. An interview team made up of parents, other adult volunteers, Urban Tutorial students (education majors involved in tutoring public school students in the area) from Michigan State University, and this writer studied the form prior to its administration. A series of meetings were held during the testing period to obtain answers to any questions which arose during the time of administration. The oldest child from each family in the school (not including kindergarten and special education students) was selected for testing. Other

student data were gathered from the teaching teams of each of the students.

Analysis of the data was accomplished through the use of simple pair-wise correlation (Pearson r) and the least squares deletion form of regression analysis. All hypotheses and pair-wise relationships were tested at the .10 level of significance.

Findings of the Study

Results of the statistical analyses used to answer the ancillary questions are presented in the first portion of this section. Following this is a summary of the results of the tests of the two major hypotheses.

Parental Attitude Toward the School

Parental attitude toward the school for this population was positive. That is to say, the mean score (122.66) was well above the point (105.00) which would indicate neutrality. The various factors, rated from most to least positive in parental response, showed that for the parents of primary age students, attitudes were most positive toward building maintenance, building adequacy, and school-community relations and communications. For these same parents, attitudes were least positive toward school board-community relations and communications, and student management. Social skills training and academic training occupied a middle ground between these extremes. The same was true of the attitudes of parents

The second secon

2

student : of the sc Answer: of simple :

the second to

anct: 1 -

of intermediate age students with the exception of social skills and academic training which reversed positions. The highest incidence of positive attitude was found among the parents of primary I level students. A steady change from positive to negative in such parental attitudes was in evidence as their children progressed through the four levels (Primary I, Primary II, Intermediate I, and Intermediate II).

Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability

The overall confidence level of academic ability was positive for this student population. That is, the mean score (36.63) of all students on the SCLAA scale was above that point (25.00) which would indicate neither positive nor negative feelings of academic confidence. Like parental attitude toward the school, SCLAA tended to decrease (move toward the negative pole) as the students progressed from earlier to later years of elementary school. A similarity was also found to exist between the variability of the primary II and Intermediate I groups of parents (Bullock SCAAEA) and students (SCLAA) in relative positivism of responses.

Relationship Between Parental Attitude Toward the School and Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability

The attitude of the total parent population correlated significantly with SCLAA (r = .16 p \leq .05). This correlation



while remaining present, lost the strength of relationship required for significance when the primary and intermediate groups were tested separately. Where the seven factors of parental attitude were tested individually against SCLAA, it was found for the intermediate group that positive attitudes of parents toward academic training and building maintenance were significantly associated with high scores of students on SCLAA scale. For the primary group, where parental attitude toward building maintenance was high, SCLAA scores of their children were also high.

Relationships of Parental Attitude Toward the School, Demographic Variables and the Several Indices of Student Achievement

The results of the fourteen separate regression equations and Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients used to test this first of the two major hypotheses showed that various subsets of the demographic and student achievement variables were accurate and significant predictors of the seven factor criteria of the Bullock SCAAEA. For purposes of clarification, the relationships among these predictor variables and the various factors of parental attitude are discussed in turn.

 Positive attitudes of parents toward building maintenance of primary and intermediate students were significantly correlated with confidence level of academic ability (p = .015 and .009) and parental perception of power or



their

121.12

i.

powerlessness ($p \le .005$ and .019). Among parents of intermediate students, where their attitudes toward maintenance of buildings were high, reading percentile scores of their children were also high (p = .087). Building maintenance was perceived positively by the white parent population (p = .027).

2. Positive parental attitudes toward building adequacy were significantly related to the years of schooling of the mother (p = .032) for parents of primary age students. Where the income of this group was high, parental attitude toward adequacy of buildings tended to be negative (p = .001). White parents of intermediate age students held positive attitudes in this regard. Race was not a significant factor in attitude toward building adequacy for parents of primary age students.

3. Positive attitudes toward school-community relations and communications among parents of primary and intermediate students were significantly ($p \le .0005$) related to perception of power. Such positive attitudes were related to high reading and math percentile scores for intermediate students (p = .068 and .007) and high reading percentile scores (p = .020) among students in the primary grades. High teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .068) and infrequent incidences of discipline problems (p = .068) were characteristic of intermediate students whose parents held positive attitudes toward school-community relations and communications. Finally, it was found that where the years of schooling of the heads of the households

powariasmodani kana addane school digram addane school di armina di armina of buildinan anni childran anni parceived box on angle ib22334 21 Factor di on anni anni bio ware stipici adequety di control di on ancio sentor

21 20 A
was high, their attitudes toward school-community relations and communications were less positive (p = .014).

4. Positive attitudes toward social skills training were evidenced by all parents where their perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school were high (p =.001 and .005). Among parents of primary age students, where their attitudes toward social skills training were high, the reading percentile scores of their children were also high (p = .072). Incidences of discipline problems were less frequent for intermediate students whose parents held such positive attitudes (p = .039). White parents were more positive in these attitudes than were non-white parents (p = .022).

5. Positive attitudes toward academic skills training were associated with perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school for all parents ($p \leq .005$). Among primary age students positive attitudes toward academic skills training were associated with high reading percentile scores (p = .041) and lessened years of schooling of the parents (p = .037). High student confidence level of academic ability (p = .010), and low frequency of incidences of discipline problems (p = .070) were characteristic of intermediate age students whose parents held positive attitudes toward academic skills training.

6. Positive attitudes toward school board-community relations and communications were associated with perceptions of

power to promote needed change in the school for parents of both primary ($p \le .005$) and intermediate students (p =.001). Negative attitudes regarding such communications were found to be related to increased years of schooling for both heads of households (p = .045) and the mothers (p = .07) of primary students. Where such parental attitudes were positive for this group, math percentile scores tended to be lower (p = .07). Attitudes toward school board-community relations and communications were more positive among higher income parents of intermediate age students (p = .064) and among non-white parents (p = .018). No relationships between school board-community relations and communications and either race or income were found for parents of primary age students.

7. Positive attitudes toward student management were associated with perceptions of power to promote needed change in the school for parents of both primary (p = .017) and intermediate students ($p \le .0005$). Such positive attitudes among parents of primary students were found to be related to lower levels of educational attainment for both the heads of households (p = .09) and the mothers (p = .05). Infrequent incidences of discipline problems (p = .05) and high teacher perception of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .05) were associated with negative attitudes toward student management among parents of primary age students. Among intermediate age students, positive parental attitudes

were associated with low absence rate (p = .011) and low math percentile scores (p = .029). Parental attitudes were more positive among black parents of intermediate age students (p = .002). Race was not a factor for parents of primary age students.

Relationships Among Reading and Math Percentile Scores, Other Indices of Achievement, and the Attitudes of Parents Toward the School

Analysis of the regression equations and Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients used to test the second major hypothesis indicated that various subsets of the demographic and parental attitude variables were accurate and significant predictors of reading and math percentile scores. The relationships of interest are discussed below.

1. Among primary age students, high reading percentile scores were associated with low incidences of discipline problems (p = .094) and high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .002). The years of schooling of the heads of households and of the mothers was high (p = .05 and .008). The parents of primary students with high reading achievement scores tended to be positive in their attitudes toward social skills training (p = .017) and negative regarding student management (p = .083).

Among intermediate age students, high reading percentile scores were associated with low incidences of discipline

pi st -1 -1 (p at we tr ne SCC the ļp re] tit (p sch ard ٠ Were .007 of c lp (of h Pater COLLE towar :: ₂₀ problems (p = .023), and high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms ($p \le .0005$). The years of schooling of both the heads of the households (p = .064) and of the mothers ($p \le .001$) was high. Parental attitude toward school-community relations and communications were positive (p = .070). Attitudes toward social skills training (p = .090) and building maintenance (p = .072) were negative.

2. Among primary age students, high math percentile scores were associated with increased years of schooling of the mother (p = .060), low frequency of discipline problems (p = .05), and high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p \leq .001). Parental attitude tended to be positive toward building maintenance (p = .058) and negative toward building adequacy (p = .023), school board-community relations and communications (p = .046), and student management (p = .07).

High math percentile scores for intermediate students were related to low incidences of discipline problems (p = .007), low absence rate (p = .039), high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms ($p \le .0001$), and increased years of schooling for both heads of households (p = .02) and for the mothers (p = .001). Parental attitudes tended to be positive regarding schoolcommunity relations and communications (p = .007) and negative toward student management (p = .021). Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness were positive (p = .001).

Additional Relationships of Importance to this Study

Relationships among certain demographic variables have importance for the findings of this study. Tables 4.13 through 4.15 illustrate these relationships. The related findings are presented below for purposes of clarification.

1. Where the years of schooling of the head of the household of primary students was high, the years of schooling of the mother ($p \le .0001$) and income ($p \le .0001$) also tended to be high. Absence rate (p = .090) frequency of incidences of discipline problems (p = .080) were low. Among parents of intermediate students, where the years of schooling of the head of the household was high, the years of schooling of the mother ($p \le .0001$), the income level ($p \le .0001$), teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .005), and SCLAA (p = .06) were also high.

2. Where the years of schooling of the mothers of primary age students was high, child standing in relation to chronological age norms tended to be high (p = .05). Such a condition tended to prevail among the white families of this population (p = .02). For intermediate students, where the mother had attained a high level of formal education, SCLAA (p = .01), absence rate (p = .10), and child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .001) tended also to be high.

3. Among the families of primary students, where income was high, absence rate (p = .06) and the years of schooling

of the mother (p = .001) tended to be high. For the intermediate students, such a family income level was associated with high teacher perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms (p = .007), increased years of schooling of the mother (p = .004), and higher absence rate (p = .02).

Conclusions

Based upon the findings of this study, the following conclusions are offered:

1. Parental attitude toward the school, student confidence level of academic ability and parental perceptions of power and powerlessness are measurable constructs for this population.

2. The attitudes toward the school of parents, as sig-. nificant others, are significantly related to indices of student achievement including math and reading percentile scores, absence rate, and frequency and kind of student discipline problems.

3. The attitudes toward the school of parents, as significant others, are significantly related to student confidence level of academic ability.

4. Student confidence level of academic ability of intermediate age students is significantly related to indices of achievement including math percentile scores and the teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms.

51
tř
pe
će
re
51
10
10
01]
Car
her
Pri
atır
aut
it
dat
rel
se],
o <u>la</u> ;

5. Parental perceptions of power and powerlessness is significantly related to the attitudes of parents toward the school.

6. The attitudes of parents toward the school, parental perceptions of power and powerlessness and student confidence level of academic ability tends to deteriorate in relative weight of positivism as student tenure in the school increases.

7. Differences in parental attitude toward the school significantly relates to the demographic variables of years of schooling of the head of the household, years of schooling of the mother, income, and race.

Implications

Despite the fact that this study is representative of only one mid-western elementary school, it does have significant implications for the theory generated in this study, and hence, for public school administrators and teachers whose primary responsibility it is to develop a positive learning atmosphere for the students in their schools. It was the author's purpose in this study to determine how parental attitudes toward the school, as modified by various demographic data and parental perceptions of power or powerlessness, were related to student confidence level of academic ability and selected indices of student achievement. For purposes of clarity, a general statement of the substance of these

relationships is presented along with the general implications which attend them. This is followed by a discussion of each of the components of this overall relationship with implications stated in greater specificity.

The Relationship Between Parental Attitude Toward the School as a Construct, Modified by Demographic Data and Parental Perceptions of Power or Powerlessness, Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability and Indices of Student Achievement

Vier SCH ann Bhread at a

The results of this study indicated that parental attitude toward the school was a measurable construct for this Such parental attitude was composed of several population. components, each of which had reference to the effectiveness of the school in serving the needs of students. Generally, the findings indicated that parental attitude toward the school was significantly related to both Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability and the several indices of student achievement. Moreover, it was found that such parental attitudes were modified by the various demographic data as well as parental perceptions of power or powerlessness. Finally, a positive relationship was found to exist between SCLAA and the various indices of student achievement. Such relationships are not only supportive of the theory developed in this study, but have implications as well for public school administrators and teachers.

The findings imply that the attitudes toward the school of parents, as significant others, have an important bearing



upon the academic achievement of their students where such achievement is determined by scores on standardized tests and other indices including absence rate, and incidences of discipline problems. Furthermore, it is indicated that SCLAA, which is similarly correlated with achievement, may be determined, in part, by such parental attitudes. These findings would seem to suggest the need for educators to look beyond the promotion of positive parental attitudes toward the school merely for the sake of successful millage and bonding campaigns to a broader view of such positive attitudes as significant correlates of student confidence level of academic ability and actual achievement.

Moreover, it would seem imperative that school personnel give a thoughtful look at the demographic make-up of their school population. Where such variables serve to moderate the attitudes of parents toward the school, they take on an importance far beyond the mere sociological description of the school's clientel. Indeed, they may aid the administrator in isolating those segments of the school's population which hold negative attitudes toward the school. Thus, useful information would be available for the formulation of successful intervention strategies aimed at making more positive these highly important parental attitudes.

Each of the several relationships discussed above is taken in turn to provide a clearer understanding of both internal relationships and the implications that flow from them.

Parental Attitudes Toward the School and its Relationship to Student Confidence Level of Academic Ability and Indices of Student Achievement

As a result of factoral analysis of the response of parents to the Bullock SCAAEA, seven separate categories (factors) of parental attitude were defined. Each of these factors and their relationship to SCLAA and indices of student achievement are discussed in turn.

Building Maintenance

The attitude of the parents were positive toward the maintenance of the school's facilities. The findings of the study indicated that such positive attitudes were associated with high SCLAA for both primary and intermediate age students, and high math percentile scores for primary students. This would seem to suggest that maintenance of buildings may be a contributor to positive parental attitudes toward the school. Moreover, such positive attitudes are seen as related to a sense of academic confidence among both primary and intermediate students and to at least one index of achievement for primary age students.

The relationship between parental perceptions of building maintenance and reading achievement for intermediate students provided a somewhat different perspective. Here, a negative attitude toward maintenance was associated with high reading scores. Due to the overall positive nature of the attitudes of parents of both primary and intermediate students toward

maintenance of school buildings, it would seem unreasonable to assume such a directly negative relationship. Thus, where parental attitudes toward the maintenance of school buildings are negative, it would seem that parents of high achieving and academically confident students may be taking compensatory steps designed to override the effects of weaknesses which they perceive to exist. The data generated in this study do not provide an empirically definable form for such compensa-Thus, its existence may be posited only as one possible tion. explanation of this apparent inconsistency of relationships. It is suggested, however, that if such compensation is responsible for this negative relationship, the alteration of the negative attitude of parents of high achievers might alleviate the need for such compensation, thereby providing a freer, less encumbered learning atmosphere. The expected results would be enhanced academic success.

Building Adequacy

The attitudes of parents toward the adequacy of the school buildings were highly positive, surpassed only by the positive nature of attitudes toward building maintenance. The findings indicated that, where attitudes toward building adequacy were correlated with indices of achievement, the relationship was a negative one. Thus, with regard to achievement in math for the primary age students, where parental attitudes toward building adequacy were low, percentile

scores in math were high. Again, the positive nature of the responses of the parents toward building adequacy would seem to suggest seriously questioning a direct relationship between negative attitude and high math achievement. It would seem more plausible to assume, as in some relationships with building maintenance, that where such attitudes are low, some compensation is provided by parents of high achieving students.

Careful analysis of the data again revealed no demonstrable explanation of the form of such compensation. As before, the value of attending to these negative attitudes among the parents of high achieving students would seem to be implicit.

School Community Relations and Communications

The attitudes of parents toward school-community relations were positive. They ranked below building maintenance and building adequacy in relative positive weight. The findings indicated that among parents of intermediate age students, where parental attitudes toward school-community relations were positive, student scores in reading and math and the teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms were also high. Frequency of disciplinary problems were low for the children of these parents. For the parents of primary age students, positive parental attitudes toward school-community relations and communications were associated with lessened years of schooling of the head

of the household and with high reading percentile scores. Finally, for both groups, such positive parental attitudes were significantly correlated with positive parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school.

Thus it would appear that the attitudes of parents toward school-community relations are of significant importance with regard to several indices of achievement. As such, they should be given careful consideration by school personnel. Of particular concern would be those segments of the parent population with increased years of schooling and who evidence perceptions of powerlessness in relation to The their ability to promote needed change in the school. relationship of parental perceptions of power and powerlessness to attitude toward school-community relations would seem to suggest the need for the principal to be actively involved in communication with the home; this, since the principal is implicated as the means whereby parents gain such a sense of power.

Social Skills Training

This dimension, while generally of a positive nature for both primary and intermediate groups, was found to be less positively evaluated by the parents of intermediate age students. For both groups it was found that positive attitudes toward social skills training were associated with parental perceptions of power to cause meaningful change in

the school. Furthermore, such parental attitudes were also associated with low incidences of discipline problems for intermediate students and high reading percentile scores among primary age students. These findings deserve consideration by school administrators for several reasons. The training students receive in social skills may have implications for student performance beyond the mere development of peace and harmony among students and between students and staff in the school. The need for thoughtful integration of social skills training into the curricular structure of the school is indicated. Thus, social studies, typically history oriented, might be conceived of as as much training in social skills as history, anthropology and the like. Reference to current social studies texts adoptions does not indicate this kind of dual thrust. Moreover, it would seem of great importance that the parent population be informed, if not involved, in such social skills training; this, because of the apparent relationship between their attitudes toward such training, their perceptions of power, and the achievement of their children.

All too frequently, communications between home and school is negative with regard to a student's social adjustment. Thus, the principal is in contact with the parents when a student has evidenced some unacceptable form of social behavior. Such negative communication is creative only of negative feelings on the part of the parents toward their own

and the school's ability to train their children for acceptable social behavior. The need is implied for a liaison person capable of communicating in a positive way. If the principal is such a person, well and good. Where the principal is unable or unwilling to function in this capacity, some person to act as a home-school counsellor would seem to be needed.

Academic Training

The general attitude of parents toward academic training was positive. Again, the parents of intermediate age students were less positive in these attitudes than were those of primary age students. The findings indicated that such parental attitudes were related to high reading percentile scores for primary students. Positive parental attitudes toward academic skills training were also associated with high confidence levels and low incidences of discipline problems among intermediate age students. For both groups, where parental attitudes toward academic training were positive, the parents evidenced positive perceptions of power to cause meaningful change in the school's programs. Finally, higher levels of educational attainment were associated with less positive attitudes toward academic skills training for parents of primary age students.

Home-school communication would again seem to be the indicated need. Where parents are frequently apprised of the

academic training given their children, and where they are included in the needs assessment phase of planning the academic program, one would expect to see a more positive attitude toward this dimension of the school's operation. This would seem to be an optimum condition given the apparent relationship between such positive parental attitudes and several indices of student achievement. The Parent-Teacher conference would certainly be considered a viable method of creating such communication. Extended to greater limits, it would seem that an advisory council made up of parents and school personnel, the task of which would be, in part, to determine academic needs, would be an effective tool for both informing parents and improving their attitudes toward the academic training offered to their children.

School Board-Community Relations and Communications

This dimension of parental attitude was found to be less positive than those discussed above, approaching the mid-line between positive and negative level of response. A negative correlation between this dimension of parental attitude and the scores of primary students in math was observed. Analysis of the data did not present an empirically definable reason for this. Again, it is suggestive of compensation of one sort or another on the part of the parents who view school board-community relations and communications in a negative light.



academin: 11 includen [academin:] attract attract ent reliand seven i i i Teacher r i method ilmiter



Attitude toward school board-community relations and communications was less positive among white, low income parents of intermediate age students. Due to the apparent relationship between such parental attitudes and the achievement of students, it would seem desirable to strive for better parental perception of communication between the governing body of the school district and the population which it is elected to serve. While no segment of this population should be discounted in this regard, the findings would seem to indicate the advisability of giving particular attention to those parents who show definite negative attitudes.

The relatively less positive responses of parents toward school board-community relations and communications would seem in need of careful consideration at present when important issues such as school desegregation and the restructuring of financial support of schools are being planned and/or implemented. It is perhaps timely to note that, at the time of this writing, five school board members serving the district from which the population was drawn were recalled by a vote of the electors of the district.

Student Management

The attitudes of parents were least positive toward student management. The relative weight was found to be below 1.00, that point which divides positive from negative responses.

The negative relationship which was observed to exist between these attitudes of parents and the achievement of their children in math and reading again would suggest that some compensation is being made. Thus, it is inferred that where parents perceive the management of students in the school to be inferior, compensatory measures are being taken. Positing such compensation may be supported by the fact that negative attitude with regard to student management is associated with infrequent incidences of discipline problems and a high assessment from teachers with regard to the standing of the child in relation to chronological age norms. Moreover, such parental attitudes are associated with increased years of schooling of both the mothers and the heads of households. It would seem reasonable to assume that where parents of higher academic training perceive the school's management of students to be less effective, steps are being taken in the home to insure effective disciplinary training and respect for the This is then seen to be reflected in low incidence school. of discipline problems, which is simultaneously related to both reading and math scores as well as teachers' perceptions with regard to child standing in relation to chronological age norms.

As in previous relations of this sort (i.e., student management, and school board-community relations and communications), where compensation is indicated, it would seem that a concerted effort on the part of the school to achieve accord

with the home regarding matters of student management, would serve to alleviate the burdensome atmosphere in which students must strive to achieve successfully. The need for an effective parent-school council is indicated.

Knowledge of the relationship between the attitudes of parents toward the school and student achievement, while meaningful, does not provide the administrator or teacher with sufficient information upon which to act. The need for developing positive parental attitudes is indicated. However, the enormity of the task would seem to require some empirically based plan of action. It is the purpose of the following section to demonstrate some of the ways by which these attitudes vary in relation to certain demographic variables within the population tested, so as to suggest a viable method of rendering more positive the attitudes of parents toward the school.

Years of Schooling of the Head of the Household

Analysis of the data indicated that as the years of schooling of parents of primary age students increased, their attitudes toward Academic Training, School-Community Relations and Communications, and Social Skills Training became less positive. For Heads of Households of intermediate age students, no relationship was found to exist between years of schooling and any factor of parental attitude toward the

98

الاشراء فيرديها

school. Given the apparent importance for achievement and SCLAA of parental attitudes such as those mentioned above, these findings would seem to indicate the value of close communication between school and those parents of primary age students who have reached increased years of schooling. It is not to suggest the neglect of those whose years of schooling is less, since the same relationship, while of lessened strength, is quite likely to exist. Rather, it is to point out that segment of the parent population which would seem to be the most relevant public toward which to direct such intensified communication. The fact that such relationships exist for the parents of primary students as opposed to those of intermediate students, would seem to reinforce the necessity of effectively communicating with this segment of parents. Most would agree that the early years of the school experience are often those which, in large part, shape the success or failure of later schooling experiences (see: i.e., Bloom, et al.).

The data further indicated that the years of schooling of the head of the household were significantly related to certain indices of achievement. These included reading scores (p = .05), rate of absence (p = .10), and incidence of discipline problems (p = .08) for the primary age students and SCLAA (p = .05), math scores (p = .02), reading scores $(p \le .001)$, and child standing in relation to chronological age norms for students of intermediate age (p = .005). These data

would seem to support not only the notion that parents are significant others for students with regard to achievement but would further imply that where the years of schooling of the parents is high, student achievement also tends to be While no causal relationship may be inferred, the data high. do seem supportive of several hypotheses: (1) The level of expectation for achievement of their children may be higher among parents with increased years of schooling; (2) An educational system which provides learning experiences for adults as well as young people may serve to stimulate achievement of students who would perceive their parents as seriously involved in the learning process; (3) An educational program which integrates the K-12 program with adult education might serve to lessen negative parental attitudes toward the school since both the parents and their children would be benefitting from the services provided by the school. A viable and effective illustration of such a program is provided by the Community School concept.

Years of Schooling of the Mother

Analysis of the data indicated that as the years of schooling of mothers of primary age students increased, their attitudes toward adequacy of the school buildings became more positive. Under these same attitudinal conditions, their attitudes toward student management and school board-community relations became less positive. For mothers of intermediate



age students, increased years of schooling were related to high SCLAA, and high teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms. For both groups, where the mothers' years of schooling was high, math and reading percentile scores were also high. These findings again suggest the positive relationship between parental years of schooling and student achievement. Moreover, they amplify the negative relationship between such years of schooling and parental attitudes toward management of students and school board-community relations and communications.

The relationships between the years of schooling of the mother, SCLAA, teacher perception of child standing in relation to chronological age norms, as well as reading and math scores are indicative of the relationship between parental years of schooling and student achievement. This apparent relationship would seem to suggest the importance of continued education of parents, particularly as involvement in continued education (career education, life-long education, etc.) relates to the achievement of their children. It would seem that the ideal approach to continued parent education would be a situation in which the school which serves the children also provides educational opportunities for their parents. Attendance in the same school or, at minimum, the same school district, might be expected to render more positive the attitudes of parents toward the school system and, conceivably, toward the school attended by their children.

Th tì an Ca of Ind hig pos the tow pri aim WOU 3001 big? tior to s scho rela (p = tion Jedia giver. schoo

This would be considered an optimum condition in light of the relationship between the attitudes toward the school among parents and the achievement of their children. The Community School philosophy is reflective of such a concept of continued education.

Income

Analysis of the data indicated that where income was high, parental attitude toward building adequacy was less positive for parents of primary age students. Again, given the apparent importance of this dimension of parental attitude toward the school, with particular reference to parents of primary age students, it would seem that school communication aimed most specifically toward parents at higher income levels would be of greatest value. The data also suggested that, among parents of intermediate age students, where income was high, parental attitude toward school board-community relations and communications was also positive. This would seem to suggest a feeling of lack of communication between the school board and the home among parents of lower income. The relationship between parental perceptions of power and income (p = .02) would further support a lack of sense of communication and control on the part of lower income parents of intermediate age students.

Thus it would appear that some consideration should be given the levels of income where parental attitudes toward the school is concerned.

Race

Differences in attitude toward the school were found to be related to race for the parents of intermediate age students only. For this group, white parents were most positive toward academic training, building maintenance, and building adequacy. Black parents were most positive in their attitudes toward school board-community relations and communications and student management. The complexity of analysis of differences in attitudes and opinions on the basis of race presupposes the formulation of any substantive implications beyond the fact that the differences do seem to exist and should be considered of some importance to school personnel when dealing with parental attitudes toward the school.

Level Variability of Parental Attitude Toward the School

Variance in the positive nature of parental attitude toward the school was found to exist between parents of primary and intermediate age students. Similar variance was found for SCLAA between these groups. Thus, as student tenure in the school increased, parental attitude toward the school and SCLAA decreased. This would seem to imply a need for educators to concern themselves in particular with parental attitudes and SCLAA vis-a-vis the older elementary student and his parents. Moreover, it would seem beneficial to examine all facets of the internal operations of the school in an



effort to isolate possible causes of this deterioration of parental attitude and SCLAA.

Parental Perceptions of Power or Powerlessness

Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness were found to be weighted on the positive side of that point (5.0) which would indicate feelings of neither power nor powerlessness. Such perceptions were correlated very highly ($p \leq .0005$ to .019) With all factors of parental attitude toward the school with the exception of building adequacy. The statements used to measure such parental perceptions were worded to implicate the principal as the means whereby such power is obtained. Moreover, it was found that the sense of power among the parents decreased as the tenure in the school of their children increased.

It would seem reasonable to infer from these findings that the fostering among parents of a sense of power to cause needed changes in the school is of significant importance in the determination of overall attitude toward the school. The value of an effective parent advisory group is strongly indicated. Further, it would seem imperative to involve parents of older students who appear to evidence less sense of power than do the parents of younger students. Finally, such a group should include the principal of the school who is seemingly viewed by the parents as the agent through whom such power is realized.

Summary of the Implications

In summary, the findings of this study seem to suggest the following implications:

1. The attitudes toward the school of parents, as significant others, are significantly important with regard to student confidence level of academic ability and student achievement. As such, they deserve the full attention of school personnel.

2. Statistically significant relationships were found to exist between the attitudes of parents of intermediate age students toward school-community relations and communications and several indices of student achieve-Negative attitudes toward school-community relament. tions and communications were associated with increased years of schooling and a lack of parental sense of power to promote meaningful change in the school. The relationship between parent attitude toward school-community relations and communications and student achievement indicated a need for effective home-school communication. While not intended to infer the neglect of any segment of the parent population, it was suggested that particular attention should be given to those parents of primary age students who have attained higher levels of formal education and those who evidenced a lack of sense of power to promote meaningful change in the school. It was considered of primary importance that the principal be actively involved in communication with the home since he is perceived by the parents as a means whereby such power is obtained.

3. Statistically significant relationships were found to exist between parental attitude toward social skills training and several indices of student achievement. This would seem to indicate the need for constrictive and positive channels of communication between home and school with regard to matters of student social behavior. The value of an effective liason person, whether the principal or home-school counsellor, is inferred. Moreover, it would seem that the training students receive in social skills should be an integral part of the total school curriculum and that parents should be well acquainted with, and be allowed to assume an active part in the development of such curriculum content.

4. Significant relationships were found to exist between the attitudes of parents of Intermediate age students toward the academic training given their children, student

confidence level of academic ability and indices of student achievement. The importance of on-going home-school communication with regard to the academic training given to students would seem to be indicated. Meaningful twoway communication should be striven for. Parents should be actively involved in the development and planning of the educational program. The implementation of an active parent-school advisory council, wherein parents and teachers can share in planning the educational program, would seem to be an effective means of obtaining and maintaining such communication.

5. Student achievement was found, in some cases, to be significantly but negatively correlated with attitudes of parents toward building maintenance, building adequacy, and school board-community relations and communications. Thus, high indices of achievement in reading and math were, at times associated with less positive perceptions of these aspects of parental attitude toward the school. Due to the overall positive nature of the responses of parents to such attitudinal factors, some questions arose as to the meaning of these findings. A direct negative correlation would not seem plausible since such parental attitudes were found to be positively related to other indices of student achievement including student confidence level of academic ability, incidences of discipline problems, and rate of absenteeism. Some form of compensation for these negative attitudes may be in effect. Thus, where parental attitudes toward the maintenance and adequacy of facilities, and school board-community relations and communications are negative, parents of high achieving students may be taking compensatory steps designed to override weaknesses which they perceive to Research of such a possibility goes beyond the exist. scope of the data presented in this study. It is suggested however, that if such compensation is responsible for this condition, the alteration of the negative attitudes of parents of high achievers might alleviate the need for such compensation, thereby providing a freer, less encumbered learning atmosphere. The expected result would be enhanced academic success.

6. Indices of student achievement (reading and math scores) were found to be negatively correlated with attitudes of parents toward student management. Since, as mentioned with regard to other negatively correlated parental attitudes, the meaningfulness of a direct negative relationship is somewhat questionable, compensation of some sort was suggested. In this instance, some support for this conjecture was provided by the data. Specifically, negative parental attitudes toward a student management were associated with low incidences of



discipline problems and high teachers' perceptions of child standing in relation to chronological age norms. Furthermore, such negative attitudes persisted among parents with increased years of schooling. Thus, it was suggested that where parents of high academic training perceive the school's management of students to be less effective, steps are being taken to insure effective disciplinary training and respect for the school at home. Such home training is then seen to be reflected in low incidences of discipline problems, which condition is positively related to other indices of achievement including reading and math scores, and the perceptions of teachers with regard to child standing in relation to chronological age norms. As before, when compensation was implied, the apparent need for alleviation of negative parental attitudes would seem to be implicit. Parental accord with and participation in the development of the school's approach to management of students would perhaps serve well to render such parental attitudes more positive. Again, the need for an effective parent advisory council would seem to be indicated.

7. Differences in parental attitude toward the school were found to be significantly related to the demographic variables of years of schooling of the head of the household, and of the mother, income and race. Several implications were drawn from these findings. It was suggested that: (a) specific attention should be given to the attitudes of parents who have attained more years of formal education since their attitudes toward the school were less positive; (b) since increased educational attainment of parents were associated with successful student achievement, steps should be taken to overcome negative attitudes among such parents; (c) the level of expectations for their children may be higher for parents who have achieved higher levels of educational attainment; (d) an educational system which provides learning experience for adults as well as young people may serve to stimulate achievement of students who would perceive their parents as seriously involved in the learning process; (e) an educational program which integrates the K-12 program with adult education might serve to lessen negative parental attitudes toward the school since both the parents and their children would be benefitting from the services provided by the school. The Community school concept was suggested as a viable and effective illustration; (f) consideration should be given to income level when assessing the attitudes of parents toward the school. Specifically, it was suggested that the attitudes of low income parents be given special concern where


Υ.

-N

.

school board-community relations and communications is concerned, and among high income parents with regard to building adequacy.

8. The positive nature of both parental attitude toward the school and student confidence level of academic ability was found to decrease in positivism in relation to the tenure of students. The need was indicated for educators to be concerned, in particular, with SCLAA of intermediate students and the attitudes of their parents toward the school. Moreover, the need was discussed for examining all facets of the school program with the aim of isolating possible causes of such decrease in positivism.

9. Parental perceptions of power and powerlessness were found to be highly and positively correlated with all facets of parental attitude toward the school with the exception of building adequacy. Deterioration of sense of power among parents was positively related to the tenure of their children in school. The principal was indicated as the means whereby a sense of power is ob-Thus, these findings implied that: (a) the tained. fostering among parents of a sense of power to cause change is of significant importance in determining positive parental attitude toward the school; (b) schools should maintain effective parent advisory groups; (c) whenever possible, parents of older students should be involved in the decision-making process due to their apparently lessened sense of power; (d) advisory groups should include the principal who is seemingly viewed as the agent through whom parental power to cause change is exercised.

Implications for Further Study

This study demonstrated that the attitudes toward the school of parents of primary and intermediate age students were significantly correlated with student confidence level of academic ability and various indices of student achievement. Some questions were raised which could not be answered due to necessary limitations in the research design used in this

study. Further research aimed toward possible answers to these questions would seem worthwhile.

1. Analysis of the data indicated that parental attitude toward the school, parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school, and student confidence level of ability decreased in relative positivism as student tenure in the school increased. Empirical examination of this phenomenon would seem to be a logical follow-up to this study.

2. Certain incidences of parental attitude toward the school were found to be negatively related to indices of student achievement. Due to the overall positive nature of such parental attitudes, direct negative relationships were Rather, it was suggested that where parental discounted. attitudes toward such aspects of the school program were negative among parents of high achieving students, some form of compensatory steps was being taken which was designed to override the effects of perceived weaknesses. The data generated in this study were not generally suggestive of the form of such compensation. Research directed toward the isolation of the nature of such compensation would seem of value. Moreover, it is suggested that the effects upon student achievement of a program designed to alter such negative attitudes among parents be studied.

3. Parental perceptions of power to promote needed changes in the school program were found to be highly related to



.

positive parental attitudes toward the school. Only two test items were used to determine this sense of perceived power. Due to the apparent significance of such perceptions of power, extended research might best be directed toward isolation of mutually exclusive aspects of parental perceptions of power. Further determination of the relationship between such parental perceptions, parental attitude toward the school, and indices of student achievement would seem of value. Such a study might best be undertaken in a controlled experimental setting where the effects upon parental attitudes toward the school and student achievement of a program designed to enhance parental perceptions of power to promote needed change could be studied.

4. Data revealed a negative relationship between the years of schooling of the parents and certain factors of parental attitude toward the school. The apparent positive relationship between student achievement and both parental attitude toward the school and the years of schooling of the parents, suggests the need for research into programs which are designed to provide continued education experience for parents while, at the same time, maintaining positive parental attitudes toward the school or school system of which their children are a part.

5. The data were supportive of the need for effective home-school communication. In several instances the need for active and effective parent advisory councils was indicated.

While research (Woons, 1972)² has been undertaken to describe the functions of such a council, the writer is unaware of any study which treats the effect of advisory councils on parental attitude toward the school. Such research would seem worthwhile.

²George J. Woons, "The Community School Council: Functions, Characteristics, and Issues," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1972.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Books

- Brookover, W. B., Paterson, A., and Shailer, T., <u>Self-Concept of Ability and School Achievement II:</u> <u>Improving Academic Achievement Through Students' Self-</u> <u>Concept Enhancement</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 1636 (East Lansing: Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, 1965).
- Brookover, W. B., Erickson, E. L., and Joiner, L. N. <u>Self-Concept of Ability and School Achievement in High School</u>, U. S. Office of Education, Cooperative Research Project No. 2831 (East Lansing, Office of Research and Publications, Michigan State University, Feb., 1967).
- Bullock, Robert P. <u>School-Community Attitude Analysis For</u> <u>Educational Administrators</u> (Columbus, Ohio: College of Education, Ohio State University, 1959).
- Combs, A., and Snygg, D. Individual Behavior: A Perceptual Approach to Behavior (New York: Harper and Roe, 1949).
- Cooley, Charles H. <u>Human Nature and the Social Order</u> (New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1902).
- Diggory, James C. <u>Self Evaluation</u>: <u>Concepts and Studies</u> (New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1966).
- Freud, Sigmund, <u>The Interpretation of Dreams</u> (George and Allen and Unwin, Ltd., 1937).
- Garret, Henry E., and Woodworth, R. S. <u>Statistics in Psy-</u> <u>chology and Education</u> (New York: David McKay Company, Inc., 1958).
- Hand, Harold G. What People Think About Their Schools (New York: World Book Company, 1948).
- Jamieson, Marshall C. <u>Helping Your Child Succeed in Elemen-</u> tary School (Toronto: Langmans Canada Ltd., 1962).

- Lecky, Prescott, <u>Self-Consistency</u>: A Theory of Personality (New York: The Shoe String Press, Inc., 1961).
- Mead, G. H. <u>Mind, Self and Society</u> (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1934).
- Pierce, C. S. Values in a Universe of Chance: Selected Writings of C. S. Pierce, ed. P. R. Weiner (New York: Doubleday-Anchor Books, 1958).
- Purkey, William W. <u>Self-Concept and School Achievement</u> (New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1970).
- Symonds, P. M. <u>The Dynamics of Parent-Child Relationships</u> (New York: Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1949).
- Symonds, P. M. <u>The Psychology of Parent-Child Relationships</u> (New York: Appleton-Centry-Crofts, Inc., 1939).
- Symonds, P. M. The Ego and the Self (New York: Greenwood Press, 1968).
- Spitz, R. A. <u>Hospitalism in A. Freud and Others: The Psy-</u> <u>choanalytic Study of the Child</u> (New York: International University Press, 1945).
- Smith, Mildred B. Home and School: Focus on Reading (Illinois: Scott Foresman and Company, 1971).
- Sexton, Patrica C. <u>Education and Income</u> (New York: Viking Press, Inc., 1964).
- Wylie, Ruth C. <u>The Self-Concept: A Critical Survey of</u> <u>Pertinent Research Literature</u> (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1961).

Periodicals

- Aronson, E. and Carlsmith, J. M. "Performance Expectancy as a Determinant of Actual Performance," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, LXV (1962), 178-82.
- Beier, E. G., and Ratzeburg, F. "The Parental Identification of Male and Female College Students," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, XLVIII (1953), 569-72.



- Benjamins, J. "Change in Performance in Relation to Influences Upon Self-Conceptualization," Journal of Abnormal Psychology, XLV (1950), 473-80.
- Bieri, J., and Frieschman, A. "Learning as a Function of Perceived Similarity to Self," <u>Journal of Personality</u>, XXV (1956), 213-23.
- Borislow, Bernard. "Self Evaluation and Academic Achievement," Journal of Counseling Psychology, IX (1962), 246-54.
- Cass, James. "The Public Schools' Public," <u>Saturday Review</u>, LII (Oct. 18, 1969), 73.
- Coleman, James S. "The Adolescent Subculture and Academic Achievement," Journal of Sociology, LXV (1960), 341-47.
- Combs, A. W. "The Self in Chaos: A Review of Wylie, R. C., The Self-Concept: A Critical Survey of Pertinent Research Literature," Contemporary Psychology, VII (1962), 53-4.
- Coopersmith, S. A. "A Method for Determining Types of Self Esteem," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, LIX (1959), 87-95.
- Craig, Helen B. "A Sociometric Investigation of the Self-Concept of the Deaf Child," American Annals of the Deaf, CX, 4 (1965), 456-78.
- Davidson, H. H., and Lang, G. "Childrens' Perceptions of Their Teachers' Feelings Toward Them Related to Self-Perception, School Achievement and Behavior," Journal of Experimental Education, XXIX (1960), 107-18.
- Fink, Martin B. "Self-Concept As it Related to Academic Underachievement," <u>California Journal of Educational</u> <u>Research</u>, XIII, No. 2 (1962), 57-62.
- Gowan, J. C. "Factors of Achievement in High School and College," Journal of Counseling and Psychology, VII (1960), 91-5.
- Jourard, S. M., and Reny, R. M. "Perceived Parental Attitudes, The Self and Security," Journal of Consulting Psychology, XIX (1955), 364-66.
- Lozowick, L. M. "On the Nature of Identification," <u>Journal</u> of Abnormal Psychology, LI (1955), 175-83.

- Manis, M. "Personal Adjustment, Assumed Similarity to Parents, and Inferred Parental Evaluations of the Self," Journal of Consulting Psychology, XXII (1958), 481-85.
- Roth, P. M. "The Role of Self-Concept in Achievement," Journal of Experimental Education, XXVII (June, 1959), 254-81.
- Shaw, M. C., and Dutton, B. E. "The Use of the Parent-Child Attitude Research Inventory With Parents of Bright Academic Underachievers," Journal of Education Psychology, LIII (1962), 203-8.
- Shaw, M. C., Edson, K., and Bell, H. M. "The Self-Concept of Bright Underachieving High School Students as Revealed by the Adjective Check List," <u>Personnel and Guidance</u> <u>Journal</u>, No. 39 (Nov. 1960), 193-96.
- Sopchak, A. P. "Parental Identification and Tendency Toward Disorders As Measured by the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory," Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, LXVII (1952), 159-65.
- Videbeck, Richard. "Self Conception and the Reactions of Others," <u>Sociometry</u>, XXIII (1960), 351-59.
- White, Robert W. "Motivation Reconsidered: The Concept of Competence," <u>Psychological Review</u>, LXVI (1959), 297-333.

Unpublished Materials

- Caplin, M. D. "The Relationships Between Self-Concept and Academic Achievement and Between Level of Aspiration and Academic Achievement," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1962.
- Erickson, Edsel. "A Study of the Normative Influences of Parents and Friends Upon Academic Achievement," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1965.
- Farls, R. J. "High and Low Achievement of Intellectually Average Intermediate Grade Students Related to the Self-Concept and Social Approval," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, University of Pittsburgh, 1967.

- Harding, Kenneth L. "A Comparative Study of Caucasian Male High School Students Who Stay in School and Those Who Drop Out," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1966.
- Johnson, A. A. "A Study of the Relationship Between Nonpromotion and the Male Student's Self-Concept of Academic Ability and His Perceived Parental, Friends, and Teachers' Evaluations of His Academic Ability," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1968.
- Joiner, Lee M. "The Reliability and Construct Validity of the Self-Concept of Ability Scale Form D for Hearing Impaired Students," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1966.
- Morse, Richard J. "Self-Concept of Ability, Significant Others and School Achievement of Eighth Grade Students: A Comparative Investigation of Negro and Caucasian Students," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1963.
- Paterson, Ann. "An Evaluation of an Instrument Designed to Measure the Construct, Self-Concept of Academic Ability," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1966.
- Petersen, Thor. "School Approval-Disapproval and Educational Enlightenment of Parents Based on Occupation, Educational Level, Age, Race, Geographic Area and Length of Residency," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1971.
- Sandeen, Carl. "Aspirations for College Among Male Secondary School Students From Seventh to Tenth Grade," Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Michigan State University, 1965.

APPENDICES

i

APPENDIX A

-

CORRELATION TABLES AND MEAN GRAPHS



محاصر بالاعتيا

TABLE 4.1

BUILDING MAINTENANCE

Va	riable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level
Pr	$(R^2) = .2894$		
1.	SCLAA	.33	.015
2.	Parental Perceptions of power or powerlessness	.46	.0005
In	termediate (R ²) = .1860		
1.	SCLAA	.26	.009
2.	Race	27	.007
3.	Reading percentila scores	18	.087
4.	Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.24	.019

TABLE 4.2

BUILDING ADEQUACY

Variable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level
$\underline{\text{Primary}} \qquad (R^2) = .0996$		
1. Income	.24	.081
2. Years of schooling of the mother	.29	.032
Intermediate $(R^2) = .3724$		
1. Race	37	.0005

Primary

1. SCLAN

2. Parents :

Intermedi :

SCHOOL-COMMUNITY RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

Va	riable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level	
Pr	imary (R ²) = .8042					
- -	Years of schooling of the head of the household	34	.014			
2.	Reading percentile scores	.32	.020			TTA
° m	Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	06.	.0005			
цц	$(R^2) = .6471$					
г.	Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.80	.0005			
2.	Reading percentile scores			.15	.068	
÷.	Math percentile scores			.25	.007	
4.	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms			.15	.068	
ъ.	Discipline			15	.068	

TABLE 4.5

ACADEMIC SKILLS TRAINING

Variable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level
$\underline{\text{Primary}} \qquad (R^2) = .265^{\circ}$	7	
 Years of schooling of the heat of the household 	ad29	.037
2. Reading percentile scores	. 28	.041
3. Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.70	.0005
Intermediate (R ²) = .1785	5	
1. SCLAA	.26	.010
2. Discipline	19	.070
3. Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.56	.0005

SCHOOL BOARD-COMMUNITY RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

					1
Variable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level	1
Primary (R ²) = .3038					1
 Years of schooling of the head of the household 	27	.045			
 Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness 	• 53	.0005			
3. Math percentile scores			20	.070	
4. Years of schooling of the mother			20	.070	
Intermediate $(R^2) = .1642$					
l. Income	19	.064			
2. Race	.24	.018			
3. Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.34	100.			

1

STUDENT MANAGEMENT

Vari	able Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level	
Prim	ary (R ²) = .1797					
1. R	ceading percentile scores	27	.052			
2. Ъ	arental perceptions of power or owerlessness	.32	.017			
3. D	iscipline			.23	.05	
4. 1.C	child standing in relation to chrono- ogical age norms			25	• 03	
5. Å	ears of schooling of the head of the ousehold			18	60.	123
6. У	ears of schooling of the mother			22	. 05	
Inte	$\frac{\text{rmediate}}{\text{cmediate}} \qquad (R^2) = .2549$					
1. R	ace	.32	.002			
2. A	bsence	26	.011			
3. R	eading percentile scores	.19	.067			
4. M	ath percentile scores	22	.029			
ч • С	arental perceptions of power or owerlessness	.40	.0005			
						1



READING PERCENTILE SCORES

Va	riable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level	,
Pr	imary (R ²) = .6972					
н.	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms	.43	.002			
2.	Discipline	24	.094			
т.	Math percentile scores	.61	.0005			
4.	Student management	24	.083			
<u>г</u>	Social skills training	.33	.017			
.9	Years of schooling of the head of the household			.23	.05	124
7.	Years of schooling of the mother			• 33	• 008	
Ц	termediate (R ²) = .7801					
н.	Years of schooling of the head of the household	.19	.064			
2.	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms	.57	.0005			
°.	Discipline	23	.023			
4.	Math percentile scores	.61	.0005			
5.	Building maintenance	19	.072			
6.	Sociál skills training	18	060.			
7.	School-community relations and communications			.15	.07	
8	Years of schooling of the mother			.35	.001	

i

MATH PERCENTILE SCORES

Var.	iable Description	Partial (r)	Alpha Level	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level
Prin 1.	mary (R ²) = .6084 Reading percentile scores	.77	.0005		
2.	Building adequacy	31	.023		
e m	School board-community relations and communications	28	.046		
4.	Building maintenance	.26	.058		
5.	Student management			20	.07
.9	Years of schooling of the mother			.21	.06
7.	Discipline			23	.05
	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms			.51	.001
Int.	ermediate $(R^2) = .4608$ Absence	21	.039		
2.	Reading percentile scores	.80	.0005		
m	Student management	23	.021		
4.	Parental perceptions of power or powerlessness	.33	.001		
<u>د</u>	School-community relations and communications			.25	.007
.9	Years of schooling of thehead of the household	_		.20	.02
7.	Years of schooling of the mother			.31	.001
8°	Discipline	25	.007		
•	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms			.63	1000.



BULLOCK	[S
NO	YS.
DEVIATIONS	LTITUDE ANAI
STANDARD	MMUNITY A
AND	ပ္ပ
MEANS	SCHOOL
GROUP	

	Tot	al Possible		
	Item	Score	Mean	SD
	Total Parent Attitude Scale	210	122.66	20.11
	Primary I	210	137.13	17.67
	Primary II	210	120.21	20.39
	Intermediate I	210	121.34	20.57
	Intermediate II	210	121.25	19.27
2.	Total School-Community Relations and Communications (Factor I)	40	24.76	6.33
	Primary I	40	28.88	6.72
	Primary II	40	23.90	6.92
	Intermediate I	40	24.94	6.27
	Intermediate II	40	24.19	5.62
	Total Building Adequacy (Factor II)	20	13.32	3.41
	Primary I	20	13.38	3.50
	Primary II	20	13.03	3.86
	Intermediate I	20	13.00	2.82
	Intermediate II	20	13.62	3.41
ч Т	Total School Board-Community Communications and			
	Relations (Factor III)	30	15.71	4.89
	Primary I	30	17.12	4.27
	Primary II	30	15.92	5.09
	Intermediate I	30	14.37	4.57
	Intermediate II	30	15.90	5.02

126

continued



m 1
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
ω
-
=
- 54
- 11
+
C
~
0
U
Ŧ
Ó
<u> </u>
-
P
Ψ
-
· ~
14
đ
É.
<b>_</b>

		Total Possible		
E	Item	Score	Mean	SD
01. 0	tal Student Management (Factor IV)	20	9.23	3.35
Pr	imarv I	20	10.50	3.16
Pr	imary II	20	9.21	3.20
Π	termediate I	20	8.87	3.94
п П	itermediate II	20	9.12	3.18
6. TO	tal School Maintenance (Factor V)	10	7.52	1.41
Pr	imarv I	10	8.06	1.24
Pr	II Azmii	10	7.74	1.40
In	termediate I	10	7.25	1.61
In	itermediate II	ot	7.40	1.33
7. TO	tal Social Skills Training (Factor VI)	25	14.52	3.40
Pr	imary I	25	16.75	3.26
Ρr	imary II	25	14.18	3.17
In	termediate I	25	13.97	3.38
Ч	termediate II	25	14.45	3.44
8. To	tal Academic Skills Training (Factor VII)	65	37.58	7.79
Ρr	imarv I	65	42.44	7.00
Pr	imary II	65	36.23	6.59
L L	termediate I	65	38.94	7.64
i H	termediate II	65	36.56	8.27

------



RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF BULLOCK SCAAEA

Va	riable Description	Expected Mean	Observed Mean	Relative Weight
112	<u>imary</u> School-Community Relations and Communications	20	25.35	1.27
2.	Building Adequacy	10	13.13	1.31
÷.	School Board-Community Relations and Communications	15	16.27	1.08
4.	Student Management	10	9.58	96.
5.	Building Maintenance	ъ	7.84	1.57
6.	Social Skills Training	12.5	14.93	1.19
7.	Academic Skills Training	32.5	38.04	1.17
비니	termediate School-Community Relations and Communications	20	24.43	1.22
2.	Building Adequacy	10	13.42	1.34
т. т	School Board-Community Relations and Communications	15	15.40	1.03
4.	Student Management	10	<b>9.04</b>	06.
5.	Building Maintenance	5	7.35	1.47
6.	Social Skills Training	12.5	14.29	1.14
7.	Academic Skills Training	32.5	37.33	1.15

.



### YEARS OF SCHOOLING OF THE MOTHER

Va	riable Description	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level			
Pr	imary					
1.	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms	.22	.05			
2.	Race	27	.02			
In	Intermediate					
1.	SCLAA	.23	.01			
2.	Absence	.13	.10			
3.	Child standing in relation to chronological age norms	.13	.001			

### 129

2 CORRECTOR SHE WAS

#### TABLE 4.14

YEARS OF SCHOOLING OF THE HEAD OF THE HOUSEHOLD

Variable Description	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level
Primary		
1. Absence	18	.09
2. Discipline	19	.08
3. Income	55	.0001
4. Years of schooling of the mother	.55	.0001
Intermediate		
1. SCLAA	.16	.06
<ol><li>Child standing in relation to chronological age norms</li></ol>	.26	.005
3. Income	44	.0001
4. Years of schooling of the mother	。58	.0001
## TABLE 4.15

Ι	Ν	С	0	Μ	Е	
---	---	---	---	---	---	--

Variable Description	Pearson (r)	Alpha Level
Primary		
1. Absence	21	.06
2. Years of schooling of the mother	42	.001
Intermediate		
1. Absence	20	.02
<ol> <li>Child standing in relation to chronological age norms</li> </ol>	25	.007
3. Years of schooling of the mother	27	.004





MEANS FOR TOTAL BULLOCK SCAAEA

















CHART 4-D



CHART 4-E

MEANS FOR STUDENT MANAGEMENT (Factor IV)







CHART 4-F



CHART 4-G







CHART 4-H MEANS FOR ACADEMIC SKILLS TRAINING

APPENDIX B

Second Sec

DEMOGRAPHIC AND FACTOR ANALYSIS DATA TABLES

,

TABLE 3.2

YEARS OF SCHOOLING OF THE MOTHER

	Less	than 12th		High	SG	me	College Gra	d G	roup	Mean	SD
	(f)	Grade %	(f)	school %	Col	.lege %	or Beyond (f) %		z		
Pri. I	2	12.5	7	43.8	2	43.8	0		16	2.3	0.7
Pri. II	7	17.9	20	51.3	12	30.8	0	•	39	2.1	0.7
Int. I	с	9.4	17	53.1	6	28.1	6 Ƙ	.4	32	2.4	0.8
Int. II	14	20.9	27	40.3	17	25.4	9 13	.4	67	2.3	1.0
Total Group:	26	16.9	71	46.1	45	29.2	12 7	8.	154	2.3	0.8

TABLE 3.3 RACE

	Wh.	Ite	Bla	Ick	Group N	Mean	SD
	(£)	90	(f)	dю			
Pri. I	15	93.8	1	6.3	16	1.1	0.3
Pri. II	36	92.3	m	7.7	39	1.1	0.3
Int. I	28	87.5	4	12.5	32	1.1	0.3
Int. II	58	86.6	6	13.4	67	1.1	0.3
Total Group:	137	0.68	17	11.0	154	tvt	0.3

3	3.4
ABLE 3	ABLE

6	
1	i
Ĉ	1
H	
10	1
10	i
2	
1	
C	
Ŧ	i
Ē	
Ξ	i
F	l
	ĺ
r.	
1	
$\sim$	
~	
-	
4	i
Ē	
H	i
Ē	
E	
Ξ	
-	Ì
۴.	
E	
$\mathbf{C}$	
Ľ	
z	
H	
Ē	
Ö	)
ŏ	
H	
77	
2	
01	
E.	1
_	
0	)
0	•
s S	
RS O	
ARS C	
EARS C	
YEARS C	

	Less	than	H.	igh	Som	e	Colle	ge Grad.	Group	Mean	SD
	12th	Grade	Scl	loor	Coll	ege	л о	Beyond	Z		
	(f)	90	(£)	<b>%</b>	(f)	96	(£)	æ			
Pri. I	ĸ	18.8	н	6.3	10	62.5	7	12.5	16	2.7	0.9
Pri. II	2	5.1	6	23.1	21	53.8	7	17.9	39	2.8	0.8
Int. I	Ŋ	15.6	6	28.1	11	34.4	7	21.9	32	2.6	1.0
Int. II	6	13.4	22	32.8	15	21.0	21	31.3	67	2.7	1.1
rotal Group:	19	12.3	41	26.6	57	37.0	37	24.0	154	2.7	1.0

TABLE 3.5 INCOME

	\$15 and	,000 Over	\$10, \$14,	-000	\$7,7 \$9,9 \$9,9	-000	\$5,0 \$6,9	-00	\$3,( \$4,5	-000	Under \$3,000		roup N	Mean	SD
Pri. I	4	25.0	6	56.0	5	° 12.5	) 0	, 0		د . 6 . 3	0		16	2.1	1.0
Pri. II	2	17.9	23	59.0	7	17.9	0	0	T	2.6	1 2	.6	39	2.2	1.0
Int. I	8	25.0	16	50.0	ъ	15.6	7	6.3	Ч	3.1	0		32	2.1	1.0
Int. II	20	29.9	32	47.8	14	20.9	0	0	Ч	1.5	0		67	2.0	0.8
Total Group:	26	16.9	80	51.9	28	18.2	5	1.3	4	2.6	1 2	.61	54	2.1	6.0



## TABLE 3.6

## ROTATED FACTOR LOADINGS FOR EACH BULLOCK ITEM (SEVEN FACTOR SOLUTION)

Item No.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	.0976	.0315	.1001	.0366	.0218	.1032	.7525
2.	.1479	.1382	.0401	.0284	.0262	.0095	.6783
3.	.0109	.0962	.1063	.2453	.1953	.0058	.4030
4.	.1413	.1583	.0328	.0553	.0058	.3662	.3836
5.	.3141	.0969	.0174	.0781	.1020	.2871	.6106
6.	.0613	.1188	.1329	.1121	.0844	.8087	.1331
7.	.0359	.0136	.1742	.7479	.2039	.0374	.9421
8.	.2110	.0433	.0793	.2854	.0645	.2094	.4876
9.	.0051	.1476	.2732	.2792	.4739	.0033	.3124
10.	.0420	.0273	.2250	.7752	.0938	.1271	.0618
11.	.3116	.2726	.0245	.6041	.2604	.1310	.2830
12.	.2627	.1594	.2086	.6592	.1601	.2203	.3579
13.	.2221	.0104	.0170	.0321	.1377	.1863	.6483
14.	.2449	.0275	.1019	.0019	.0745	.2269	.5582
15.	.2762	.3674	.1336	.2291	.1489	.4013	.0427
16.	.1152	.0627	.2361	.2062	.1021	.7057	.2320
17.	.4132	.0294	.0818	.2372	.3439	.3544	.2333
18.	.2504	.1584	.0415	.1112	.1211	.6921	.0924
19.	.6184	.0757	.3541	.0273	.0714	.1818	.1785
20.	.7144	.0298	.2569	.0237	.0926	.0918	.1725
21.	.5471	.0636	.1875	.0904	.1435	.1954	.4060
22.	.6186	.0334	.4748	.1048	.0600	.0376	.2116
23.	.6658	.0497	.0080	.0812	.0946	.1025	.2013
24.	.6447	.0725	.1225	.0384	.1485	.0068	.1418
25.	.1327	.0800	.8004	.0866	.1398	.0361	.1300
26.	.2066	.0354	.7425	.2694	.1143	.0482	.0558

continued



.

TABLE	3.6	Cor	nt:	inued	
-------	-----	-----	-----	-------	--

Item No.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
27.	.2152	.0535	.5541	.0255	.0436	.1459	.1321
28.	.1129	.0925	.8376	.0499	.0260	.0145	.1686
29.	.2388	.0135	.6888	.1531	.0886	.1316	.0886
30.	.1325	.0738	.7243	.0268	.0156	.0955	.1583
31.	.0323	.8608	.1089	.0807	.0840	.1084	.0064
32.	.0541	.8327	.0518	.0795	.1050	.0666	.0473
33.	.0564	.7906	.0255	.1781	.2180	.0306	.0994
34.	.0334	.4657	.3170	.0234	.1244	.1315	.0572
35.	.1795	.2410	.0919	.1378	.7038	.0135	.1189
36.	.2541	.1771	.0506	.0657	.6575	.0194	.2267
37.	.1791	.0486	.1316	.1973	.2129	.0572	.6615
38.	.1444	.1329	.2159	.1530	.1695	.2156	.5192
39.	.1349	.0244	.3185	.0378	.0354	.0136	.5044
40.	.2628	.4008	.1159	.1812	.0664	.0497	.3802
41.	.7212	.0102	.0487	.0874	.0272	.0125	.3776
42.	.7246	.0118	.1698	.0876	.1132	.0675	.3084

## TABLE 3.7

# BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR EDUCATIONAL ADMINISTRATORS

## FACTOR ANALYSIS

	Item No.	Item Text	Factor Loading	Item Mean	Item SD	
Facto	or One	School-Community Relations and Communications				
ι.	19	The school administrators don't tell us enough about school problems; they leave us out too much.	.6184	2.50	1.16	
2.	20	One can easily talk with our school administrators about school problems.	.7144	3.02	1.15	
ë.	21	Teachers will listen to what we have to say about school problems but that is as far as it goes.	.5471	2.73	0.99	
4.	22	School administrators do not pay enough attention to parents.	.6186	2.77	1.17	
· 5.	23	Our teachers seem willing to talk with people about school problems.	.6658	3,58	16.0	
- 6.	24	Our community is kept generally well-informed about school activities.	.6447	3.36	1.05	
. 1.	41	If I call the school about a problem or a complaint, the principal really listens.	.7212	3.61	1.05	
8.	42	If I called the school to suggest that some change were needed, the principal would really give it careful thought.	.7246	3.28	1.06	
Facto	DE TWC	Building Adeguacy				
Ŀ	31	To provide the best education for our children, we need more space and rooms than are available in our present school building.	.8608	3.17	1.17	

TABLE 3.7--Continued

	Iten No.	n Item Text	Factor Loading	Item Mean	Item SD
Facto	Dr Two	oContinued			
2.	32	Our present school buildings and facilities are quite adequate to meet our needs.	.8327	3.41	1.06
'n	33	Good educational programs do not depend on buildings and space; we can provide fine education with our school plant just as it is.	.7906	3.26	1.16
4.	34	Our schools should offer a wider variety of courses and activities even though these would require more room or newer, larger arrangements.	.4657	3.50	0.92
Facto	or Thr	eeSchool Board-Community Relations and Communications			
Ч	25	Our school board seems to represent the community very well.	.8004	2.39	1.11
2.	26	The school board pays too much attention to what cer- tain groups think and not enough to the rest of the community.	.7425	2.41	1.08
Э.	27	You have to be "someone" to get on the board.	.5541	2.89	1.06
4.	28	I feel that the school board represents my interest very well.	.8376	2.49	1.04
5.	29	The school board tries to get community help and ideas only when the board wants something.	.6888	2.54	1.04
.9	30	The school board seems very willing to see people and talk with them about school problems.	.7243	2.89	0.96
Facto	r Fou	rStudent Management			
, H	7	There should be more strict discipline in our schools.	.7479	1.89	1.02
- 2.	10	Our schools do not place enough emphasis upon obedience and respect for authority.	.7752	2.04	1.09

TABLE 3.7--Continued

.

	Iter	Ttam Havt	Factor	Item	Item
Facto	r Fou	rContinued	hitthant	הבמוו	מח
э.	11	Our schools are very effective in teaching good citizenship.	.6041	2.79	1.06
4.	12	Our schools are very effective in teaching proper behavior and good habits.	.6592	2.69	1.04
Facto	r Fiv	eBuilding Maintenance			
• H	35	Our school buildings and facilities are in good repair.	.7038	3.81	0.81
2.	36	Building maintenance and care in our schools is not as good as it should be.	.6575	3.68	0.86
Facto	r Six	Social Skills Training			
, T.	9	Children in our schools do not receive enough training in social skills.	.8087	2.91	1.01
2.	15	Our schools should provide better health service for children.	.4013	3.17	1.17
°.	16	Our schools are doing a very good job of teaching children social skills.	.7057	2.94	16.0
4.	17	The training our children receive in human relations how to get along with one anotheris very good.	.3544	3.02	1.08
۰ ۲	18	Our schools should place more emphasis upon helping children achieve better social and personal adjustment.	.6921	2.43	0.95
Facto	r Sev	enAcademic Skills Training			
• <b>-</b> •	, L	The more important basic skills and knowledges are being very effectively taught in our schools.	.7525	3.49	0.97



TABLE 3.7--Continued

	Item No.	n Item Text	Factor Loading	Item Mean	Item SD
Facto	r Sev	enContinued			
2.	7	The courses now taught in our schools meet the students' needs very well.	.6783	3.44	1.00
ъ.	e	Too much "foolishness" is taught in our schools.	.4030	3.48	1.01
4.	4	Our schools need to do some curriculum study to select courses that will better fit the needs of our children.	3836	2.46	0.96
5.	Ņ	Our schools are doing a good job in giving children personal help and guidance.	.6106	3.01	1,14
.9	80	Our schools are very effective in teaching good work habits.	.4876	2.86	1.09
7.	6	More drill in subjects like arithmetic is needed in our schools.	.3124	2.31	1.07
8	13	Our school children are not getting as much individual attention from their teachers as they should be getting.	.6483	2.45	1.16
. 9.	14	Our school is doing a very good job in personal guidance of students.	.5582	2.93	1.01
10.	37	Everything considered, our schools are doing as good a job of education as could be expected.	.6615	3.00	1.05
11.	38	In general, our schools are much better than the average for cities of this size.	.5192	3.16	0.88
12.	39	Considering the amount of money we spend on them, our schools should do a much better job than they are doing.	.4737	2.56	1.01
13.	40	The schools in our city have many serious short- comings which should be remedied.	.4125	2.46	0.93



## APPENDIX C

PERSONAL DATA FORMS,

STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY FORM,

AND BULLOCK SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE

ANALYSIS FOR EDUCATIONAL ADMINISTRATORS

## PERSONAL DATA FORM

Dear Parent,

Please complete this personal information form before you return this questionnaire. Please be sure you <u>do</u> <u>not</u> <u>sign</u> your name to either this sheet or the questionnaire.

Thank you.

The information contained in this personal information form, and the following questionnaire will be used only for this survey. It will not be used in any other way.

Please check the appropriate response for each of the five questions below.

1. Persons completing this questionnaire.

_____ father _____ mother _____ mother and father together legal guardian

 How many years of schooling has the <u>head of the household</u> completed?

> _____ less than 12th grade ______ High School completed ______ Trade School or College attendance College graduate (4 years) or beyond

3. How many years of schooling has the mother completed?

less than 12th grade

High School completed

_____ Trade School or College attendance

College graduate (4 years) or beyond

4. What is the yearly income level of the main bread winner

of the household?

_____ 15,000 and over _____ 10,000 to 14,999 _____ 7,000 to 9,999 _____ 5,000 to 6,999 _____ 3,000 to 4,999 _____ under 3,000

5. To what race does the person or persons completing this questionnaire belong?

White

Non-white







## STUDENT LEVEL OF CONFIDENCE OF ACADEMIC ABILITY

Responses of the child will be entered by the interviewer. <u>Circle the letter in front of the statement which most closely</u> <u>matches the responses of the child</u>. Careful rephrasing of some questions may be necessary for clarification.

1. Who is your best friend? Which of you two does better in school?

a. I do much better.

- b. I do a little better.
- c. Our work is about the same.
- d. Friend does a little better.
- e. Friend does much better.
- 2. How does your school work compare with the others in your

class? Are you:

- a. better than the rest?
- b. better than many?
- c. about the same as the rest?
- d. not as good as many?
- e. worse than the rest?

3. What do your friends think about your school work?

a. They think it's much better than theirs.b. They think it's a little better than theirs.c. They think it's about the same as theirs.d. They think it's not quite as good as theirs.e. They think it's much worse than theirs.



- 4. What does your teacher think of your work? Does she think that it is:
  - a. always good?
  - b. usually good?
  - c. sometimes good and sometimes bad?
  - d. usually bad?
  - e. always bad?

5. When you have classwork to do can you:

- a. always do it correctly?
- b. usually do it correctly?
- c. sometimes do it correctly and sometimes not?
- d. usually not do it correctly?
- e. never do it correctly?

6. When you have homework at night, can you:

- a. always do it correctly?
- b. usually do it correctly?
- c. sometimes do it correctly, and sometimes not?
- d. usually not do it correctly?
- e. never do it correctly?

7. What do your parents think of your school work?

- a. They always think it's good.
- b. They usually think it's good.
- c. They sometimes think it's good and sometimes bad.
- d. They usually think it's bad.
- e. They always think it's bad.



- 8. How will you do in school next year?
  - a. Much better.
  - b. A little better.
  - c. About the same.
  - d. A little worse.
  - e. Much worse.
- 9. What kind of things do you think your teacher tells your parents about your work when they talk together?
  - a. Always good things.
  - b. Usually good things.
  - c. Sometimes good things and sometimes bad things.
  - d. Usually bad things.
  - e. Always bad things.

10. What kind of grades do you think you can get?

- a. Mostly A's (very good).
- b. Mostly B's (good).
- c. Mostly C's (average).
- d. Mostly D's (below average).
- e. Mostly F's (failing).

### SCHOOL-COMMUNITY ATTITUDE ANALYSIS FOR ADMINISTRATORS¹

## Section I. Your Schools

The following items relate to various aspects of the educational program provided by your schools. These items provide an opportunity for you to indicate your own feeling or opinion about such things as courses of study, teaching methods, and present building and playground facilities in your school. It is important that you indicate your own honest opinion about these things if this survey is to be helpful.

Indicate your opinion by checking for each statement whether you <u>strongly agree</u> (SA); <u>agree</u> (A); <u>disagree</u> (D); or <u>strongly disagree</u> (SD) with the statement. If you cannot make up your mind or feel you do not know, check the <u>undecided</u> (UN) space.

SA 5	$\frac{A}{4}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{2}$	SD 1	1.	The more important basic skills and knowledges are being very effec- tively taught in our schools
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\overline{4}^{A}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\overline{1}^{SD}$	2.	The courses now taught in our schools meet the students' needs very well.
$\overline{\mathbf{I}}^{SA}$	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	$\overline{1}^{SD}$	3.	Too much "foolishness" is taught in our schools.
ī I	$\frac{A}{2}$	UN 3	<b>4</b> ^D	SD 5	4.	Our schools need to do some curricu- lum study to select courses that will better fit the needs of our children.
SA 5	$\frac{A}{4}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\frac{SD}{1}$	5.	Our schools are doing a good job in giving children personal help and guidance.
īsa	$\overline{2}^{A}$	UN 3	$\overline{4}^{D}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	6.	Children in our schools do not receive enough training in social skills.
$\overline{1}^{SA}$	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	7.	There should be more strict dis- cipline in our schools.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\overline{1}^{SD}$	8.	Our schools are very effective in teaching good work habits.

¹Bullock, op. cit., 88-91.

$\frac{SA}{1}$	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	9.	More drill in subjects like arith- metic is needed in our schools.
SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{4}$	SD 5	10.	Our schools do not place enough emphasis upon obedience and respect for authority.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\frac{SD}{1}$	11.	Our schools are very effective in teaching good citizenship.
SA 5	$\frac{A}{4}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{2}$	SD 1	12.	Our schools are very effective in teaching proper behavior and good habits.
SA I	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	SD 5	13.	Our school children are not getting as much individual attention from their teachers as they should be getting.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\overline{4}^{A}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\frac{SD}{1}$	14.	Our school is doing a very good job in personal guidance of students.
$\overline{1}^{SA}$	$\frac{A}{2}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{4}$	SD 5	15.	Our school should provide better health service for children.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	I SD	16.	Our school is doing a very good job of teaching children social skills.
SA 5	$\overline{4}^{A}$	UN 3	D 2	SD 1	17.	The training our children receive in human relationshow to get along with one anotheris very good.
I SA	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	SD 5	18.	Our schools should place more empha- sis upon helping children achieve better social and personal adjustment.
I SA	$\overline{2}^{A}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	SD 5	19.	The school administrators don't tell us enough about school problems; they leave us out too much.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	D 21	_SD	20.	One can easily talk with our school administrators about school problems.
SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{\mathrm{D}}$	SD 5	21.	Teachers will listen to what we have to say about school problems but that is as far as it goes.
SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	22.	School administrators do not pay enough attention to parents.

156

~ ~
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\overline{4}^{A}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{2}$	I SD	23.	Our teachers seem willing to talk with people about school problems.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\overline{4}^{A}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\frac{SD}{1}$	24.	Our community is kept generally well- informed about school activities.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	$\frac{SD}{1}$	25.	Our school board seems to represent the community very well.
I SD	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	SD 5	26.	The school board pays too much at- tention to what certain groups think and not enough attention to the rest of the community.
I	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	27.	You have to be "someone" to get on the board.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	4-1	4_U1 3	2 ¹ 2	D_SD 1	28.	I feel that the school board repre- sents my interests very well.
SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	UN 3	$\overline{4}^{D}$	SD 5	29.	The school board tries to get com- munity help and ideas only when the board wants something.
5 5	A 4	UN 3	2 ^D	ISD	30.	The school board seems very willing to see people and talk with them about school problems.
I SA	2 ^A	UN 3	<b>4</b> ^D	5 5	31.	To provide the best education for our children, we need more space and rooms than are available in our present school building.
SA 5	. А 4	UN 3	$\overline{2}^{D}$	I SD	32.	Our present school buildings and facilities are quite adequate to meet our needs.
SA 5	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	SD 1	33.	Good educational programs do not depend on buildings and space; we can provide fine education with our school plant just as it is.
SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{4}$	SD 5	34.	Our schools should offer a wider variety of courses and activities even though these would require more room or newer, larger arrange- ments.
SA 5	A 4	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	J SD	35.	Our school buildings and facilities are in good repair.

SA 1	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	36.	Building maintenance and care in our schools is not as good as it should be.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\overline{4}^{A}$	$\frac{1}{3}$ UN	$\frac{D}{2}$	I SD	37.	Everything considered, our schools are doing as good a job of educa- tion as could be expected.
$\frac{SA}{5}$	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	I SD	38.	In general, our schools are much better than the average for cities of this size.
I SA	$\frac{A}{2}$	UN 3	$\frac{D}{4}$	$\frac{SD}{5}$	39.	Considering the amount of money we spend on them, our schools should do a much better job than they are doing.
$\overline{1}^{SA}$	$\frac{A}{2}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\overline{4}^{D}$	SD 5	40.	The schools in our city have many serious shortcomings which should be remedied.
SA 5	$\frac{A}{4}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	D 2	$\overline{1}^{SD}$	41.	If I call the school about a problem or a complaint, the principal really listens.
SA 5	$\overline{4}^{A}$	$\frac{UN}{3}$	$\frac{D}{2}$	SD I	42.	If I called the school to suggest that some change were needed, the principal would really give it careful thought.





